
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Friday 29 April 2022.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Environment 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

     
 

 

Tuesday, 10 May 2022 at 10.00 am 
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House,  

St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor Nikki Manterfield (Chairman) 
Councillor Gloria Johnson (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Ashley Baxter, Councillor John Cottier, Councillor Phil Dilks,  
Councillor Dean Ward and Councillor Hannah Westropp 
 

Agenda 
 

 This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at 
a later date, via the SKDC YouTube Channel 

 

 

1.   Comments from Members of the public 
 

To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s 
discretion. 
 

 

2.   Apologies for absence 
 

 

3.   Disclosure of Interests 
 

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting. 
 

 

4.   Action Notes from the meeting held on 30 November 2021 
 

(Pages 3 - 12) 

5.   Action Notes from the meeting held on 8 March 2022 
 

(Pages 13 - 22) 

6.   Updates from the previous meeting 
 

(Page 23) 

7.   Food Waste Collection Trial - Final Report 
 

This report presents the findings of the South Kesteven District Council 
Food Waste Collection Trial. 

(Pages 25 - 48) 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.youtube.com/user/SouthKestevenDC


 

8.   Update on Environment Act - impact on Local Authority 
 

This report supports a Power Point presentation outlining the waste 
management elements of the Environment Act 2021 and associated 
consultations from the Department for the Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs. 
 

(Pages 49 - 57) 

9.   Climate Change Update 
 

This report aims to provide a short update on workstreams impacting on 
South Kesteven District Council’s climate change and carbon reduction 
ambitions. 
 

(Pages 59 - 61) 

10.   Government Consultation on the Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Licensing Best Practice Guidance for Licensing Authorities 
 

The Department for Transport have issued a consultation document 
reviewing the Best Practice Guidance for Licensing Authorities in England. 
A presentation has been produced to support the consideration of the 
response.   
  

(Pages 63 - 100) 

11.   Draft Policy for the provision of litter bins 
 

This report presents a draft policy which sets out the Council’s approach 
and the principles which will be followed in selecting and reviewing sites 
for the provision of litter bins across the district. 
 

(Pages 101 - 116) 

12.   Work Programme 2021-22 
 

To consider the Committee’s Work Programme for 2021-22.  
 

(Pages 117 - 119) 

13.   Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent 
 

 



 

 

Action Notes 
 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Tuesday, 30 November 2021,10:00 
 

Council Chamber, South Kesteven 
House, St. Peter’s Hill, Grantham. 
NG31 6PZ 

 

 

 
Committee Members: 
 

Councillor Nikki Manterfield (Chairman) 
Councillor Gloria Johnson (Vice-Chairman) 
 

 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Dean Ward 
Councillor Hannah Westropp 
Councillor Amanda Wheeler 
 

Cabinet Members in attendance: 
 

Councillor Robert Reid (Cabinet Member for Housing and Property) 
Councillor Adam Stokes (Cabinet Member for Finance and Waste Services, Deputy 
Leader of the Council) 
 

Officers 
  

 

Gary Smith (Director for Commercial and Operations) 
Anne-Marie Coulthard (Assistant Director for Operations and Public Protection) 
Debbie Roberts (Interim Organisational and Development and Change Manager) 
Ben Russell (Performance Lead) 
Serena Brown (Sustainability and Climate Change Officer) 
Amy Pryde (Democratic Services Officer) 
   

27. Comments from Members of the public 
 
Speaker 
 
Chris Boswell 
 
Chris Boswell made the following statement: 
 
“Good Morning. Thank you very much for letting me speak. I appreciate Anne-Marie 
Coulthard for bringing this to the Committee’s attention. I have had lengthy 
discussions with Members from the Licensing Committee and the Committee 
Members themselves in reference to the changes of the taxi licensing that was 
introduced last year.  
 

3

Agenda Item 4



 

 

My main concern over the policy is the level required for the new test and the pass 
rate for applicants to be able to apply. Currently in Grantham, over the bigger 
companies (CB Taxis, Autocabs, Amber Cabs, Premier Cabs and Grantham Taxis) 
there are 100 drivers, 56% of those are English, the other 44% are non-English. You 
have now introduced a test that would eradicate probably 90% of that 44% because 
they wouldn’t be able to meet the required standard, that is now introduced. The first 
English test is discriminatory, the new policy outlined the initial impact assessment 
flagged this policy change as being high under racial discrimination and it’s now 
acting as a blockade for anyone wanting to pursue this as a career. It is proved to be 
highly accurate in the early implementation, candidates who have a good level of 
spoken English but are not native English- speaking have passed the DBS check, the 
knowledge test, safeguarding training – they have all passed all training required.  
 
Currently, since the test has been introduced, only 20% pass rate has been 
succeeded. New analysis stating now that this application of the policy statement will 
be carried out in equitable manner with all applications considered on their individual 
merits on a case-by-case basis, that is in Appendix 3 that you were given from 
Licensing. This is not true, because it’s a pass or fail, there is no personal merit. You 
either pass the test or they fail the test where that’s it and they have to pay again to 
do the test, which they are likely going to fail again. It is not something you can learn 
because it’s on how you speak to a computer and the computer then decides 
whether or not you’re speaking well enough English to do this. People from Eastern 
European backgrounds or European backgrounds in general, get their words mixed 
up as to how we speak.  
 
Words translated from English into another language as we all know when we have 
studied French or Spanish; the sentence may go forwards as normal but then when 
you translate it into the other language, the words can be jumbled up so when they’re 
translating it, that’s coming across and this is what the versant test picks up on, 
whether or not they get the sentence in the correct order, they get in the incorrect 
order, it’s an automatic fail because it’s a system that is trained to listen for the 
correct sentences. I do agree that a good understanding of English is required due to 
knowing where to go and safeguarding. The level doesn’t need to be where it’s at. I 
have drivers that work for me, that cannot pass this test, they already work and they 
are scoring 35/40. I can converse with them perfectly fine, but they wouldn’t be able 
to be a taxi driver now. This needs to be looked at, to lower this level so that people 
can become a taxi driver, the trade is hurting already because of covid, a lot of 
Eastern Europeans have come back to their home countries and now the ones that 
we do have living here that want to work, we can’t recruit because they can’t pass 
this test.” 
 

28. Apologies for absence 
 
Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor Ashley Baxter and 
Councillor Linda Wootten.  
 
Councillor Amanda Wheeler had been appointed as Substitute for Councillor Ashley 
Baxter.  
 

4



 

 

29. Disclosure of Interests 
 
There were none.  
 

30. Action Notes from the meeting held on 28 September 2021 
 
Members AGREED the Action Notes of the meeting held on 28 September 2021, as 
a correct record.  
 

31. Updates from the previous meeting 
 
There were no updates from the previous meeting, held on 28 September 2021. 
 

32. Review of the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy (English language 
skills test) 
 
The Assistant Director for Operations and Public Protection presented the report on 
behalf of Councillor Linda Wootten (Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance and 
Licensing). The report outlined the existing policy, which had been adopted on 12 
January 2021 being effective from 1 April 2021. The review had been undertaken to 
consider feedback and the current pass rate of the English Language test. The 
review also proposed a minor amendment to the paragraphs in the policy relating to 
the certificate of good conduct.  
 
The Chairman declared her membership of the Licensing Committee.  
 
Members questioned the pass mark of the English Language test and whether this 
pass mark was low enough to ensure enough people pass it. It was highlighted that 
maintaining the standards was important, however a ‘balance’ needed to be agreed. 
 
One Member emphasised that 90% of taxi drivers with English as an additional 
language would fail the test, meaning it could be not ‘fit for purpose’. It was noted that 
other authorities had dropped the pass mark as low as 46 out of 80.  
 
The Assistant Director for Operations and Public Protection confirmed that out of five 
tests that were taken, four had failed and one had passed. The average score was 
46.  
 
One Member highlighted that taxi drivers should have a good level of English in case 
of an accident or the need to call emergency services.  
 
Members noted their uncomfortableness on the nature of the test being on being on 
a computer and queried the quality of the test and if Members of the Licensing 
Committee had sat the test themselves. 
 
The Chairman highlighted that the Committee had no further comments to make on 
the minor amendment in the Code of Conduct, in relation to the certificate for good 
conduct.  
 
 

5



 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
It was proposed, seconded, and AGREED to recommend to Cabinet that the 
pass mark for the English Language Test be dropped to 47 for a trial period of 
six months.  
  
 

33. Review of the Street Trading Policy 
 
The Assistant Director for Operations and Public Protection presented the report that 
related to the Council’s existing Street Trading Policy. The Policy provided the 
framework upon which the Licensing Authority delivered its functions in relation to 
Street Trading activities. A review had been undertaken to ensure the policy reflected 
current guidance and continued to be fit for purpose, while promoting improvements. 
The changes to the policy seek to make it more robust in terms of the application 
process and requirements. 
 
A query was raised as to why the policy hadn’t been updated for 10 years. 
 
The Assistant Director for Operations and Public Protection confirmed that the policy 
was a local choice and not a statutory policy which meant that no timescale was 
required by law, however, given the time elapsed the review is now needed.  
 
AGREED: 
 

1. That the draft South Kesteven District Council Street Trading Policy was 
agreed as suitable for public consultation.  
 

34. Street Collection and House to House Collection Policy 
 
The Assistant Director for Operations and Public Protection presented the report 
which outlined a draft new policy applicable to both Street and House to House 
collections. The Council currently followed the applicable legislation and issued 
permits for both street collections and house to house collections within the District.  
 
The Chairman sought clarification on the refusal of permits and the reasons for 
refusal. It was confirmed that there were instances that could be used for refusal. The 
policy sought to make it clear what those instances were.  
 
One Member queried why the policy had only been created now and the day-to-day 
effect it would potentially have.  
 
The Assistant Director for Operations and Public Protection clarified that the Council 
did not need to have a policy and that the Council followed legislation and 
regulations. She highlighted that the policy would assist with interpretation and made 
clear the circumstances where any discretion may be applied or any conditions.  
 
One Member highlighted house to house collections in relation to the collection of 
cash or goods.  It was recognised that we now lived in a ‘cashless society’ and that 
most people did not carry cash.  

6



 

 

 
It was confirmed that the legislation used was from 1939 and had not been changed 
to reflect this. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the draft South Kesteven District Council Street Collection and House to 
House Collection Policy was agreed as suitable for public consultation. 
 

35. Flooding Update 
 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property declared that he was the Vice-
Chairman of the Flood and Water Scrutiny Committee at Lincolnshire County 
Council. He presented the report that outlined: 
 

• Lincolnshire County Council were the lead local flood authority and had a 
responsibility for investigating flood incidents and enforcing circumstances.  

• In emergency situations, South Kesteven District Council coordinated with 
Lincolnshire County Council and emergency planning teams to provide a 
proportionate response to flooding events.  

• The Council held a supply of approximately 300 sandbags for emergency use 
to support requests for emergency services.  

• Currently, LCC had up to £5000 per property in direct monies by way of grant 
for homeowners that were at risk of flooding.  

• There was no statutory duty on the Council to provide sandbags.  

• Parish and Town Councils had been offered a supply of 100 sandbags and 
sand to deploy in their communities.  

• Separate arrangements were in place to support housing tenants under the 
Council’s landlord function, a further 200 sandbags were held for this purpose.  

 
Concern was raised about the perishing of sandbags and how often new bags were 
offered by the Council.  Also, what the Council did for Parish Councils that had not 
accepted the offer of sandbags and needed to access them.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property confirmed that the Council provided a 
ton of sand and sandbags separately. It was recommended that Parish Council’s did 
not store the sand in bags as they could be subject to rot. He clarified that if Parish 
Council’s had not up taken this offer, Lincolnshire County Council monitored a flood 
line, which any resident could call.  
 
One Member raised the possibility of providing a guidance leaflet to go with the sand 
and sandbags and suggested the inclusion on the leaflet of how to lay sandbags. It 
was emphasised that the correct type of sand had to be used in order to be effective.  
 
The Chairman raised a query in regard to the working relationship of partnerships, 
nationally and locally.  
 

7



 

 

The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property noted that previously the response 
hadn’t been good enough, however, Lincolnshire County Council and South 
Kesteven District Council had been working well together.  
 
A query was raised in regard to flooding support and whether this was for all 
properties in the District or just Council houses.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property confirmed the segregation due to the 
HRA having a budget for Council functions, however, arrangements were in place for 
all properties.  
 
AGREED: 
 

1. To note the contents of the report. 
 

36. Corporate Plan Performance Q2 Update and Review Outcomes 
 
The Performance Lead presented the report which provided the Committee with a 
mid-year performance report for 2021/22. The report was previously presented to the 
Committee on 8 June 2021 and outlined the performance against the Corporate Plan 
for that financial year and the Council’s performance management method and 
commitment to review the Actions and Key Performance Indicators on an annual 
basis. October 2021 was the first anniversary of the Corporate Plan; therefore, a 
review had been undertaken and brought before the Committee.  
 
Clarification was sought around the proposed changes to the reporting and why the 
commercial numbers had been removed from the report.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property declared that he was now the current 
Chairman of Environment SK Ltd. He confirmed that he had sought legal advice and 
that he did not have a conflict of interest. The Cabinet Member stated that he 
intended to see that information in relation to Environment SK Ltd was conducted in a 
timely, open and transparent fashion 
 
The Director for Commercial and Operations highlighted the actions around financial 
sustainability. Environment SK Ltd aimed to deliver the Council’s grounds 
maintenance service to provide flexibility and to work in close partnership with the 
Council. The grounds maintenance service had focused on offering a good quality 
service and which was value for money, rather than driving profits. He highlighted 
that the Companies Committee oversaw the shareholder function for Environment SK 
Ltd and that the background information provided was based on service delivery. 
 
Comments were made in relation to the increase in recycling, minimising fly-tipping in 
those areas of the District that were some distance from a recycling centre and the 
expansion of charging points for electric vehicles around the District. 
 
 
The Director for Commercial and Operations confirmed that the mobile household 
waste recycling centre service in Stamford funded by Lincolnshire County Council 
and delivered by South Kesteven District Council had been under review by the 

8



 

 

County Council and would not be returning. It was highlighted that domestic recycling 
collections and bulky waste collections were available to residents around the 
District.  
 
The Director for Commercial and Operations confirmed that there were no current 
plans for any new installations of electric vehicle charging points, however this topic 
would be kept under close review. It was highlighted that the vehicle charging points 
that had been installed in the Council’s four towns had very low usage and the 
measures suggested in the Key Performance Indicators would evidence if there was 
sufficient demand to bring forward future projects. Further installations would be 
expected in the next few years, subject to government funding.   
 
One Member highlighted other ways to recycle in parishes that did not have a 
recycling centre nearby e.g private recyclers and skip hire.  
 
AGREED: 
 

1. To note the contents of the 2021/22 mid-year performance report. 
2. To support amending the Corporate Plan Actions and Key Performance 

Indicators in line with the outcomes of the review.  
 

37. Verbal Update on Tree Planting 
 
The Director for Commercial and Operations provided the Committee with a Verbal 
Update on Tree Planting which highlighted that at the previous meeting, the 
Committee allocated the Climate Change Reserve Funding of up to £20,000 for Tree 
Planting. Following this meeting, the officers committed to conduct consultation with 
South Kesteven Ward Councillors and copy in Parish/Town Councils. This process 
was delayed due to the pre-election period; however, it had been launched on the 1 
November 2021 for just over 2 weeks. Following consultation, the Council received 
positive feedback and queries regarding types of trees, impacts on pets and animals 
and the formation of trees in certain locations. It was highlighted that two proposed 
areas had been modified. The Tree Planting had now started, and the relevant Ward 
Councillors had been notified and invited to attend.  
 
The Director for Commercial and Operations reminded the Committee that in terms of 
the four areas for Tree Planting, it would be in each of the four towns (Gonerby Hill 
Foot in Grantham, Fox Glove Drive in Stamford, Rochester Crescent in Bourne and 
Tattershall Drive in the Deepings).  
 
A query was raised regarding the budget only being able to provide trees in three of 
the four proposed areas originally.  
 
The Director for Commercial and Operations confirmed that the proposals had been 
adjusted slightly to enable all four proposed sites to go ahead within the budget. 
 

38. Verbal Update on Climate Change 
 
The Sustainability and Climate Change Officer provided the committee with a verbal 
update on Climate Change. It was highlighted that the Climate Action Group meeting 

9



 

 

that functioned as a Member/officer group had taken place on 19 November 2021. At 
the meeting, it was agreed to update the terms of reference to confirm that the group 
was now permanent and would meet twice a year to consider the Council’s approach 
to it’s operational carbon footprint. It also focussed on the engagement throughout 
the wider district around climate change and meaningful impact on South Kesteven 
District Council.  
 
It was noted that greater promotion of the Climate Matters statement would take 
place as part of the Council’s wider climate change engagement work.  
  
 

39. Water refill stations 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property presented the report which outlined 
the potential benefits publicly accessible drinking fountains could offer, including 
reduced waste from reused bottles. Consideration for any new facilities should be 
given to the financial and maintenance implications.  
 
One Member raised the following points: 
 

• 7.7 billion plastic bottles are bought across the UK every year, estimating 150 
for each person in the UK.  

• It takes 3 times the amount of water in a water bottle to make the bottle itself, it 
takes ¼ of the bottle in oil to fill, transport, cool and dispose of each bottle.  

• A single-use plastic bottle takes 400 years to break down.  

• 91% of plastic water bottles globally are not recycled. 

• It is estimated that by 2050, the oceans will contain more plastic than fish.  

• Towns and cities over the world have banned plastic water bottles.  

• Refill website – programme started in Bristol and shows where you can refill a 
water bottle.  

 
Another Member raised a concern of how the water fountains would be made in 
order to prevent any potential vandalism.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property confirmed that consultation would 
need to take place with Town Council’s in order to establish the most sensible 
locations for the water stations.  
 
A concern was raised that installing the water fountains in each of the four town 
centres may not have the desired effect. It was highlighted that promotion and uptake 
of the refill scheme amongst local businesses and town centre users would be 
beneficial.  
 
One Member had undertaken research into how the water stations could be made. It 
was noted that some other Council’s had used a company (MIW) to provide them 
with ‘vandal-proof’ water fountains. Estimated maintenance costs were also 
discussed with an annual cost of £250 a year.  
 
 
 

10



 

 

ACTION: 
 

1. For the relevant Member to forward the letter sent to Stamford Town Council 
with regard to water refill stations onto South Kesteven District Council for 
other Members to circulate.  

2. For the Director for Commercial and Operations to return to the Committee at 
the meeting on 8 March 2022 with costings. 
 
AGREED: 
 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED that the Council considered developing a 
proposal for a public drinking fountain in the town centres of each of the four towns in 
the District, subject to budget considerations and to embark on a publicity campaign 
to support the Refill agenda. 
 

40. Green Flag Status at Council Parks including Jubilee Park, Deeping St James 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property presented the report that outlined 
Corporate Plan key actions and targets in relation to Green Flag Status. Positive 
progress had been made which included Queen Elizabeth park achieving Green Flag 
Status for the first time in 2021. Wyndham park had also secured Green Flag Status 
for the tenth year.  
 
It was highlighted that further progress had been made since the report was 
published and the designation of an area should not be a major hurdle to apply for 
Green Flag Status.  
 
One Member noted that the number of Green Flag Status parks in South Kesteven 
had doubled in the past year. A concern was raised over the low increase of Green 
Flag Status parks in South Kesteven from 1 to 2, in contrast, Nottingham City Council 
had 68 Green Flag Status parks. It was noted that South Kesteven District Council 
could be more ambitious regarding the amount of Green Flag Status awards.  
 
The Green Flag Status eligibility was clarified; that any green space that was freely 
accessible to the public and had a site-specific management plan. It was highlighted 
that Jubilee Park in Deepings St James would be eligible for this award.  
 
The Director for Commercial and Operations reiterated that the timing of the request 
for the report meant that the report timescales were very tight and around in a few 
days in order to meet deadlines of approvals and publication. He highlighted that in 
terms of the financial elements, that Grantham had a special expense area and was 
a different budgetary component due to Grantham not having a Town Council 
meaning different arrangements for the Grantham parks.   
 
It was highlighted that there were different responsibilities, ownerships and 
management arrangements in each of the four towns, meaning some of the areas 
were not within South Kesteven District Council’s management or ownership and 
were the responsibility of the Town Council in these areas. 
 

11



 

 

A Member queried as to whether there had been a list of a broader plan for other 
potential areas that could be eligible for a Green Flag Award.   
 
The Director for Commercial and Operations confirmed that there had been no direct 
shortlist. The emphasis had been on the 3 areas linked to where funding was 
applied. 
 
ACTION: 
 
For the Committee to receive an update at the 8 March 2022 meeting.  
 
AGREED: 
 
For the Council to investigate the feasibility to have more Green Flag Status 
parks in South Kesteven and to communicate with the relevant Parish 
Council’s.  
 

41. Work Programme 2021 - 2022 
 
ACTION: 
 
Members requested that the following items be added to the Work Programme 
for the next meeting on 8 March 2022: 
 

• Update on Water Refill Stations 

• Update on Green Flag Status at Council Parks 

• Progress Update on the Depot Project  

• Verbal Climate Change Update  
 

42. Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special circumstances, 
decides is urgent 
 
Members discussed and agreed that a pre-meeting was not necessary going forward 
for this Committee.  
 
There was no other business.  
 

43. Close of meeting 
 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 12:04 
 
 

12



 

 

Minutes 
 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Tuesday, 8 March 2022 
 

 

 

 
Members present 
 

Councillor Nikki Manterfield (Chairman) 
Councillor Gloria Johnson (Vice-Chairman) 
  
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Dean Ward 
Councillor Hannah Westropp 

 

  
Cabinet Members present 
 

Councillor Robert Reid (Cabinet Member for Housing and Property) 
Councillor Mark Whittington (Cabinet Member for Waste Services) 
 
Officers 
 

Richard Wyles (Chief Finance Officer) 
Paul Stokes (Head of Corporate Operations) 
Serena Brown (Sustainability and Climate Change Officer) 
Amy Pryde (Democratic Services Officer) 
 
 
44. Comments from Members of the public 
 
There were none.  
 
45. Apologies for absence 
 
No apologies for absence were received.  
 
46. Disclosure of Interests 
 
Councillor Ashley Baxter declared that he had attended meetings of ‘Friends of 
Jubilee Park’.  
 
47. Action Notes from the meeting held on 30 November 2021 
 
One Member requested that further information be added to the Action Notes from 
the previous meeting regarding the item relating to Green Flag Status parks.  
 

13

Agenda Item 5



 

 

The Democratic Officer confirmed that the information would be added, and the 
Member would be notified once completed. The Action Notes were deferred to the 
next meeting for approval.  
 
48. Updates from the previous meeting 
 
One Member raised a query regarding an update in relation to Flooding.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property confirmed that work had been 
undertaken with Lincolnshire County Council to compromise an agreement. Further 
work had been undergoing with the Emergency Planning & Health and Safety Lead 
on flash floods.  
 
It was reported that each Parish in South Kesteven had been contacted regarding 
communications to the Council on the officers responsible for these situations. It was 
noted that not all Parish’s had responded to the Council; 9 Parish’s had taken up the 
initiative of storing 200 sandbags. Each Parish had also received an emergency 
contact update protocol.  
 
Another query was raised on progress relating to a new recycling centre to serve 
Stamford and the Deepings.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property reported that there were currently no 
plans for a new recycling centre to serve Stamford and the Deepings.  
 
ACTION: 
 
For the Cabinet Member for Waste to provide the Committee with an update on 
a new recycling centre that would serve Stamford and the Deepings.  
 
The Chairman confirmed that the progress update on the depot project would be 
discussed at the next Committee meeting.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property provided a brief update on the depot 
project. It was reported that the depot was at stage two of the project and that a new 
depot was required due to the expanding growth of the district. It was noted that this 
project would need to be affordable and deliverable within the reams of financing. At 
stage two, several checks and balances would take place to ensure the Council build 
only what is required.  
 
It was reported that an Officer working group meeting was due to take place at the 
end of March 2022 on the management of the project. A further update would be 
brought to the next Committee meeting in April.  
 
49. Update on Green Flag Status at Council Parks 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property presented the report that outlined 
considerations and requirements to attain Green Flag Status for additional parks in 
the district. Advice and guidance had been offered to ‘Friends of Jubilee Park’ 

14



 

 

towards developing details of the future Green Flag application process for Jubilee 
Park in Deeping St James.  
 
It was noted that Jubilee Park may require park improvements to be eligible for 
Green Flag Status, which would be carefully assessed and budgeted for.  
 
It was reported that the Council offer guidance and support to Parish and Town 
Council’s if they wish to pursue Green Flag Status for any public park, however, the 
Council do not have the resources to directly lead this process.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property confirmed that the Council would be 
happy to assist and support Jubilee Park and transfer the land if they wish to apply 
for Green Flag Status.  
 
Further ambition for Green Flag Status at Dysart Park in Grantham was highlighted, 
moreover, this was subject to funding which were not statutory requirements and 
cautionary budgets had been set around Green Flag Status and public park 
expenditure.  
 
One Member raised concern over the communication from the Council to ‘Friends of 
Jubilee Park’. It was reported that no communication had been pursued from the 
Council to ‘Friends of Jubilee Park’. Further concerns were raised on the lack of 
communication to the Parish Council and Ward/Parish councillors on this matter, 
furthermore no contact had been made to the Member who requested the item on the 
agenda for the community’s aspirations. 
 
It was noted that ‘Friends of Jubilee Park’ were supportive of the aspiration for a 
Green Flag Status for Jubilee Park. On the other hand, they deemed the plan 
impractical, due to the report stating that ‘Friends of Jubilee Park’ were responsible 
for a management and maintenance plan. It was highlighted that the Council 
maintain and manage Jubilee Park and ‘Friends of Jubilee Park’ exists for the 
betterment of the park and its community.  
 
A working partnership was suggested between the Council and ‘Friends of Jubilee 
Park, however, ‘Friends of Jubilee Park’ could not be responsible for the 
maintenance and the management of the park. It was noted that budget expenses 
should not be incorporated, due to the Council, Parish Council and ‘Friends of 
Jubilee Park meeting expectations.  
 
The Head of Corporate Operations confirmed that the report laid out the 
requirements of proceeding towards Green Flag Status at Jubilee Park. No 
communication had been sought at this stage due to the decision not currently being 
made by the Council on whether Green Flag Status was appropriate for Jubilee Park.  
 
It was highlighted that financial commitment and resources would be required to 
support Jubilee Park. 
 
Another Member expressed his disappointment over the amount of time it had taken 
the Council to achieve Green Flag Status at one park, however there were now two 
parks with Green Flag Status in Grantham with the Council aspiring to achieve 

15



 

 

another in Grantham. It was highlighted that aspirations around Green Flag Status 
should be spread across parks in the whole District.  
 
A query was raised on which Parish Councils the Council were meaningly 
communicating with regarding Green Flag Status.  
 
It was clarified that Jubilee Park was owned by South Kesteven District Council.  
 
It was noted that a park in Stamford had been in the process of applying for Green 
Flag Status for 2 years. 
 
 It was suggested that the Council communicated with Nottingham City Council on 
their work surrounding their achievement of 68 Green Flag Status parks.  
 
One Member reported that the Corporate Plan states ‘maintaining and enhancing our 
green areas across the district aiming to secure Green Flag Status for two parks in 
Grantham and other relevant areas’. It was also highlighted that the community had 
identified Jubilee Park of significance to their well-being and believe it should be 
considered for Green Flag Status.  
 
A concern was raised over the prohibitive costs surrounding Green Flag Status 
stated in the report.  
 
It was noted that prohibitive costs included the assessment of pathways and ensuring 
accessibility for everyone.  
 
One Member queried the report and what works, and costs would need to be 
undertaken for Jubilee Park to pass and achieve Green Flag Status. 
 
It was clarified that section 1.7 in the report were requirements for a park to meet a 
Green Flag Status to which would be a cost to the Council. 
 
One Member requested an indicative figure of the overall cost for a park to apply for 
Green Flag Status so that options around budgeting and monies could be explored. 
   
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED: 
 

1. For the Council to offer guidance to Parish and Town Councils as 
outlined in the report for potential ambition to attain Green Flag standard 
against eligible sites under their control. 

2. That the Council provides guidance to support a Green Flag application 
for Jubilee Park, Deeping St James.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16



 

 

    
 
50. Update on Water Refill Stations 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property presented the report that outlined the 
proposal to install four public water refill fountains in South Kesteven with costings 
provided for a five-year period. The costings included unit costs, direct installation, 
estimated water bill, projected staff resource cost (daily and weekly cleaning), 
intermittent gritting and a contingency for reactive maintenance.  
 
It was confirmed that the items set out in the report would cost between £20-22,000 
per unit installed over five years. No costing had currently been allocated towards the 
initiative, other than a potential award of £6000 for a unit in Stamford. It was reported 
that some risks would need to be managed if the proposal was agreed.  
 
An offer of £6,000 had been put forward from the Harry Skells trust in Stamford to 
make a provision towards installation of a water refill station.  
 
Members thanked the report author for their hard work. 
 
One Member queried the arithmetic set out in the report, a further query was raised 
regarding whether the public toilets at Grantham and Bourne were maintained.   
 
It was confirmed that Bourne and Market Deeping public toilets were maintained by 
their Town Council’s.  
 
It was noted that the Council’s staff would be going to the sites of the proposed water 
refill stations to maintain the public toilets every day, therefore it was suggested that 
a new member of staff may not be necessarily needed and that the one member of 
staff would maintain the public toilets and the water refill station.  
 
A query was raised over the responsibility over a public statue in St Peters Hill. It was 
questioned as to what Committee would be authorising the costs of maintenance and 
CCTV.  
 
It was highlighted that money should be spent on water refill stations to portray the 
Council’s concern for the environment and to encourage communities to reduce 
plastic in oceans.  
 
Another Member questioned the figures around costings for the water refill stations 
and that another Member had previously provided lower figures to the Committee at 
the last meeting.  
 
A suggestion was raised on the funding and the possibility of seeking sponsorships, 
grants and Town/Parish contributions.  
 
One Member reported statistics that had been gathered from other Councils: 
 

• Vale of Glamorgan Council was the first Council in Europe to install their first 
public water refill site in 2015, they now currently have 14 sites. 

17



 

 

• Hackney in London had 26 water refill sites. 

• Winchester City Council installed their first public water refill site in 2019, 
furthermore, they had now installed a water fountain for dogs. 

• Bradford-on-Avon Town Council with a population of less than 10,000 are in 
the process of installing 3 water refill stations.  

 
It was suggested that the Council revisit the costs surrounding water refill stations to 
explore options of a lower expenditure.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property confirmed that Bourne, Stamford and 
Market Deeping Town Council had been written to, for them to take over the public 
toilet’s property from the District Council. Therefore, this facility would be undertaken 
by the three towns.  
 
It was reported that the Council could organise and provide a facility of a grant to 
support Town Council’s to support them in these locations. The Council would need 
to look ways to facilitate a financial contribution to each of the Town Councils.  
 
One Member further questioned the extra cost of gritting at the water refill sites due 
to the Council already gritting the sites where public toilets are accessed.  
 
A query was raised on why a new staff member would be necessary. A further 
question was raised on the cancellation of the rental agreement and how easy it 
would be to have the stations removed.  
 
The Chairman sought clarification on costings and whether the stations would be a 
‘one-off’ purchase or will the Council own the unit.  
 
It was confirmed that Stamford were just trustees of the awarded £6000 from the 
Harry Skells Trust and it was earmarked for installation of a water refill station. 
Stamford Town Council had previously voted against water refill stations due to the 
ongoing costs of maintaining and running the facility.  
 
The Chief Finance Officer confirmed that notional grant contribution to the respective 
Town Council could be an option, however, this would not be available in Grantham 
due to the absence of a Town Council.  
 
It was noted that this had not been accounted for within the budget this year, 
therefore further work would need to be undertaken on how the monies could be 
allocated, re-prioritised and receive approvals to move monies. It was suggested that 
it could become an April 2023 proposal and be built into the budget for the Autumn 
period.  
 
The Sustainability and Climate Change Officer reported that the Council had 
requested costs from suppliers for both rental and ‘one off’ costings. The rental costs 
were provided within the report due to protecting the Council over a maintenance 
contract meaning if the fountain needed to be removed or replaced, it is expected no 
money would be lost, whereas paying for a ‘one-off’ cost may mean the money is not 
refundable and the Council may be liable for additional replacement costs. It was 

18



 

 

highlighted that the rental cost was the cheaper option for some of the proposed 
models.  
 
A further query was raised relating to rental terms and conditions and early exit of the 
rental agreement if necessary.  
 
The Sustainability and Climate Change Officer confirmed that the Council had 
contacted five different suppliers, who have different terms and conditions for rental 
which had not been discussed in detail at this stage.  
 
It was highlighted that having a new staff member would be the responsibility of the 
Town Council to deliver on the Council’s behalf. The duties of current staff employed 
by the Council were at full capacity. It was further reported that 
several staff employed by the Council did not have a Driving License so would be 
unable to travel to other areas of the district.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property reported that negotiations were in 
process between the Council and Stamford Town Council in regard to the handover 
of the public toilets to change from District Council to the Town Council. It was 
suggested that further works took place on exploring grant status for each of the four 
Town’s in South Kesteven.  
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 

1. That the Sustainability & Climate Change Officer works with the 
Council’s Communication Team and InvestSK to promote the national 
Refill scheme.  
 

It was proposed, seconded and AGREED: 
 

2. That the Council works to explore funding options for each of the four 
towns in South Kesteven to expedite the facility of installing water refill 
stations.  
 

 
51. Verbal Update on Climate Change 
 
The Sustainability and Climate Change Officer reported an overview of projects that 
the Council had been focussing on in relation to Climate Change: 
 

• Budget preparations – grant funding allocation for an energy efficiency 
scheme targeting domestic properties of low-income in the district. 

• Sustainable warmth competition had allocated the Council up to £1.4 million to 
oversee a program of energy efficiency upgrades targeted beyond the 
Council’s housing stock. The intention would be to deliver the partnership with 
three other Council’s (City of Lincoln, West Lindsay and North Kesteven). This 
project would be delivered in the coming months.  

• Local Authority treescape fund is managed by Lincolnshire County Council. 17 
Town and Parish Council’s had registered their interest, SKDC submitted 

19



 

 

proposed sites for up to 85 trees to be planted. The newly planted trees had 
been completed and would be added to the Council’s tree register. 

• Tree call to action fund had been discussed with Lincolnshire County Council 
as a consortium bid to maximise tree planting opportunities. An expression of 
interest had been submitted and the Council were waiting on a decision of the 
funding.  

• In discussion with Woodland Trust regarding their emergency tree funding 
opportunity. A decision on the funding would be received at the beginning of 
the next financial year.  

• The Climate Action Group previous meeting considered a motion to consider 
integration of climate change into planning decisions. 

• The Council would begin to review it’s carbon emissions for the 2021/22 
financial year from April 2022 onwards.  

 

One Member queried the grant linking to energy efficiency upgrades, whether the 
grant would be match funded and what this grant would achieve.  
 
The Sustainability and Climate Change Officer highlighted that the funding was 
targeted at firstly domestic properties, then low-income properties that are not social 
housing or controlled by a housing association. The scope of the grant funding was 
aimed towards owner – occupied properties and those within the private rented 
sector. It was noted that there was no expectation of any Local Authority to contribute 
match funding and most other local authorities had been made aware of the scheme 
and would be making use of their own allocation. 
 
It was reported that the scope of energy efficiency had two streams; off-gas 
properties would be able to claim a higher level of grant funding. Other properties 
with a gas connection would be directed more towards insulation upgrades.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property notified the Committee that the grant 
offer had been received at a last stage for next year’s budget, however, it was 
confirmed that 10% for the Housing Revenue Account had been facilitated within the 
next financial year.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Waste Services confirmed that an update would be brought 
back to the Committee regarding the grant for regular updates and to identify the 
properties to maximise the usage of the fund.    
 
 
52. Work Programme 2021 - 2022 
 
ACTION:  
 
Members requested that the following items be added to the Work Programme 
for the next meeting on 10 May 2022: 
 

• Update on Climate Change (report) 

• Update on Environment Act – impact on Local Authority 

• Electric charging points 

• Lincolnshire Waste Partnership – Food waste scheme trial 

20



 

 

The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property reported that car charging points had 
been discussed at the previous meeting and the feasibility around doubling the 
capacity. Works had been undertaken to whether the Council could attract grant 
funding again as previously successfully achieved. It was confirmed that the grant 
funding sources remain available for future years.  
 
It was further highlighted that due to grid capacity the car charging points were slow-
charging units and that work would be done around the next installation batch to 
ensure they are faster-charging units where possible, as dictated by grid capacity.  
 
53. Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 

circumstances, decides is urgent 
 
The Cabinet Member for Waste Services provided an update on a recycling centre 
around Stamford. It was reported that the team had been in contact with Lincolnshire 
County Council, who confirmed that they had no current plans for a household waste 
recycling centre in Stamford because it’s within 12 miles radius of Bourne.  
 
54. Close of meeting 
 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 11:55. 
 
 

21



This page is intentionally left blank

22



Action Sheet 

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Actions from meeting of 8 March 2022 

Min 
no 

Agenda item Action Assigned to Comments/Status Deadline 

48 Updates from 
the previous 
meeting 

For the Cabinet Member for Waste 
to provide the Committee with an 
update on a new recycling centre 
that would serve Stamford and the 
Deepings.  

Cabinet Member for Waste 
Services (Councillor Mark 
Whittington) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

52 Work 
Programme 
2021/22 

Members requested that the 
following items be added to the 
Work Programme for the next 
meeting on 10 May 2022: 
 

• Update on Climate Change 
(report) 

• Update on Environment Act – 
impact on Local Authority 

• Electric charging points 

• Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership – Food waste 
scheme trial 
 

Democratic Services Complete 10 May 2022 

 

23

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 
10 May 2022 

Report of: Councillor Mark Whittington  
Cabinet Member for Waste and 
Climate Change 

   

         
  

 

Food Waste Collection Trial – Final Report  

This report presents the findings of the South Kesteven District Council Food Waste Collection 
Trial. 
 
 

 

Report Author 

Anne-Marie Coulthard, Assistant Director, Operations and Public Protection  

 
01476 406319   

 a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

A Clean and Sustainable 
Environment 

Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Clova Townhill, Waste Team Manager 21 April 2022 

Approved by: Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive 22 April 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Mark Whittington, Cabinet Member for 
Waste and Climate Change 

25 April 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Notes the results of the South Kesteven District Council Food Waste Collection 
Trial.  

 

25

Agenda Item 7

mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 In June 2018 South Kesteven District Council commenced a separate food waste 

collection trial on behalf of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership.  The trial was funded by 

Lincolnshire County Council until June 2020, South Kesteven then continued to fund the 

trial until the end of March 2022.  

1.2 The original objectives of the trial were to assess: 

• the amount of food waste that can be collected on a weekly basis 

• the impact on the different waste streams 

• the impact on recycling rates 

• the impact on the volume of residual waste (sent to the energy from waste plant) 

• the levels of participation and customer acceptance 

• the collection costs 

 

Pilot Scheme Details 

1.3 The trial operated across an existing refuse collection round, incorporating 4,508 

properties across both rural and urban areas. Flats (no.248) were excluded from the trial 

due to the associated external storage issues, however, as the other waste streams were 

collected in the same vehicle the tonnage data for residual and mixed dry recycling 

includes the waste from the flats.  

1.4 Food waste was collected on a weekly basis as part of the existing fortnightly collection 

model (residual one-week, mixed dry recycling the following). It was delivered to the waste 

transfer station at Gonerby Hill Foot where it was bulked into a skip and transported to the 

anaerobic digestion plant at Hemswell Cliff for processing. This produced biogas for 

energy and a soil conditioner by-product. 

1.5 Households were provided with 2 containers; a caddy for use in the kitchen and a larger 

container to be kept outside and placed at the kerbside for weekly collection.  Caddy liners 

were also provided (additional supplies were available on request free of charge) and 

were found to be a relevant factor in encouraging participation.  

1.6 To maximise participation, targeted information was sent to each household in the area 

and drop in information events took place.  Information was also available on the Council’s 

website and wider promotion through social media and press releases.  

 

Collection Model  

1.7 Two collection vehicle options were available; 

• Separate dedicated food waste collection vehicles (requiring 1 driver and 2 loaders) 

• Split body “pod” type vehicles which accommodate the collection of food waste 
alongside other materials (requiring 1 additional loader). 

1.8 For the purposes of the trial a split body vehicle  “pod” was utilised, this required one 

additional crew member.  Due to the costs of incorporating additional dedicated collection 

vehicles (additional crew, running costs, maintenance etc) these were not considered 

26



 

 
 

efficient for the purposes of the trial. However, to assess the performance of a separate 

collection vehicle, this was tested over a 4-week period during the trial.  

1.9 The results showed that the dedicated vehicle was 4 hours 28 minutes quicker than the 

pod style vehicle over the course of the weekly round. The pod vehicle was limited by the 

capacity required for the residual/recycling materials which had a higher yield than the 

food waste and filled up more quickly, requiring more frequent unloading, taking longer.   

 

Results 

Weight of Materials 

1.10 The weight of food waste collected each month remained consistent over the first 2 years 

of the trial period, averaging 26 tonnes per month.  Although food waste collections 

continued during the Covid19 pandemic restrictions (June 2020 – May 2021 data), the 

amount of food waste collected reduced. Aligned to this, the amount of mixed dry recycling 

and residual waste increased significantly over the same period.  This may be related to 

the restrictions placed on individuals resulting in them spending more time at home and 

revised arrangements at household recycling centres. By the final 10 months of the trial 

the average monthly amount of food waste collected had reduced to 20 tonnes. Table 1 

shows the different waste streams and collection weights before and during the trial. Table 

2 provides an overview of the average weekly weight of each material collected. 

 

Table 1: Waste Stream Collection Weights Before and During the Trial 
 

Residual Waste 
(tonnes) 

Mixed Dry 
Recycling (tonnes) 

Food Waste 
(tonnes) 

Total (tonnes) 

June 2017 to May 2018 
(pre-trial) 

1563 971 0 2534 

June 2018 to May 2019 1318 990 314 2622 

June 2019 to May 2020 1317 946 323 2586 

June 2020 to May 2021  1412 1025 297 2734 

June 2021 to March 2022 
(44 weeks) 

1188 907 203 2298 

 

Table 2:  Average Weekly Collection Weights Before and During the Trial 

 

Residual 
Waste 
(tonnes) 

Mixed Dry 
Recycling 
(tonnes) 

Food Waste 
(tonnes) Total (tonnes)  

Weekly average June 2017 to 
May 2018 (pre-trial) 30.1 18.7 0 48.8 

Weekly average, June 2018 to 
May 2019 25.3 19.0 6.0 50.3 

Weekly average, June 2019 to 
May 2020 25.3 18.2 6.2 49.7 

Weekly average, June 2020 to 
May 2021 27.2 19.7 5.7 52.6 

Weekly average, June 2021 to 
March 2022 (44 weeks) 27 20.6 4.6 52.2 

 

27



 

 
 

1.11 Over the period of the trial, food waste comprised 11% of the total waste collected. 

Residual waste decreased against pre-trail weight; this was anticipated as the food waste 

which was previously in this stream had been removed.   A small increase in the average 

weekly weight of mixed dry recycling was observed.   

1.12 As food waste was diverted to recycling, the overall recycling rate increased to an average 

of 48.9% (as detailed in table 3). This excludes garden waste.  

Table 3 :Overall recycling Rates During the Trial 
 

Total Waste 
Recycled (mixed dry 
recycled + food 
waste) (tonnes) 

Total Waste (tonnes) Recycling rate 

June 2017 to May 2018 
(pre-trial) 

971 2534 38.3% 

June 2018 to May 2019 1304 2622 49.7% 

June 2019 to May 2020 1269 2586 49.1% 

June 2020 to May 2021 1322 2734 48.4% 

June 2021 to March 2022 
(44 weeks) 

1110 2298 48.3% 

 

Householder Participation and Feedback 

Of the 4,260 households in the trial area who could participate, the average participation 

rate in the first 12 months was 80.2%, each collecting an average of 1.8kg of food waste 

each week.  Over the course of the trial a gradual decline in participation was observed, 

this stood at 63.6% over the final 10 months. However, the amount of food waste collected 

by those who continued to participate did not reduce significantly (as detailed in table 4).  

In other studies, average participation levels were typically 35-55%, with good participation 

being over 55%.   

 

Table 4:  Participation Rates During the Trial  

 

Average Weekly Food Waste 
Collected per Participant (kg) Participation Rate 

June 2018 to May 2019 1.8 80.2% 

June 2019 to May 2020 1.8 72.7% 

June 2020 to May 2021 1.6 69.8% 

June 2021 to March 2022 
(44 weeks) 1.6 63.6% 

 

1.13 A survey of householders in the trial area was carried out in 2019, a detailed report is 

attached at Appendix 1. 1260 responses were received, a response rate of 30.3%.   There 

was strong support for the scheme, even from those who chose not to participate, with 

only 1.6% stating that they did not support the trial.   A significant proportion of participants 

were motivated by environmental concerns and there was strong support for each of the 

various parameters of the scheme i.e., weekly collection, caddies and liners.  

28



 

 
 

1.14 Of the respondents who stated that they were not participating, the main reasons given for 

this were: 

• Because they compost their food waste 

• Because the amount of food waste they produce is so small 

• Because their household does not produce any food waste  

1.15 The reasons for the reduction in participation during the trial are not clear, however, there 

are a number of factors which may have contributed to this: 

• After the initial launch, targeted engagement with participants reduced over course of 
the trial 

• The Covid19 pandemic and associated restrictions may have influenced behaviours 

 

Conclusions 

1.16 The overall aim of the trial was to increase the understanding of the impacts of food waste 

collection in Lincolnshire and to inform the Waste Partnership.  

1.17 In summary, the data collected has established that: 

a)  On average, 1.7 kg of food waste was collected each week per participating 
household 

b)  Food waste represented approximately 11% of the total waste produced 

c)  Food waste collections increased the amount of waste recycled by approximately 
10.5% 

d)  The majority of householders who responded to the survey agreed with the trial  

1.18 The impacts of the Covid19 pandemic on behaviours cannot be fully understood and as 

such the year 3 data in particular should be interpreted with this in mind.  

1.19 Regular and ongoing direct communications with participants is necessary to maintain 

enthusiasm and engagement. This should be linked to waste minimisation messages to 

ensure the waste hierarchy is followed.  

  

Cost Comparison 

1.20 As a further exercise, the additional costs to roll out food waste collections to all properties 

in the district was considered.  This was a relatively high level assessment which 

considered the following variables: 

• Type of vehicle; pod type or dedicated 

• Additional employee costs; 1 additional loader for a pod vehicle compared to 3 for a 
dedicated vehicle 

• Spare vehicles; required for cover 

• Additional travel time; impacts of additional trips to offload due to capacity issues or 
different waste transfer station locations for separate materials  

• Additional fuel costs  

1.21 High level estimates indicate that introducing weekly food waste collections in South 

Kesteven could add costs of between £952,000 and £1,301,000 per annum (excluding 

29



 

 
 

haulage and treatment costs).  In the current financial climate, fuel and refuse collection 

vehicle purchase costs are increasing significantly.   

1.22 The most effective vehicle choice will vary depending on a range of factors, including 

geography, population density, property types, location and requirements of waste transfer 

stations.  

1.23 Pod vehicles have a higher capital purchase cost and more frequent emptying is needed 

which makes them less efficient, but only one additional operative per crew is required.  

Dedicated vehicles require an additional crew of 3 per vehicle and have the additional 

associated operating costs of increasing the overall vehicle fleet. However, they do not 

rely on the whole fleet being replaced as would be required with the pod option and can 

offer more flexibility to offload food waste at different locations to other waste streams.  

1.24 Based on this limited trial, it is estimated that if dedicated vehicles were used throughout, 

an additional 10.5 vehicles would be needed in South Kesteven to collect food waste on a 

weekly basis. 

 

Future Roll-Out 

1.25 In July 2021, the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) consulted 

on the “Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England”. This included a 

proposal which would require all Waste Collection Authorities (WCAs) in England to 

arrange for the collection of food waste, separately and at least once a week for recycling 

or composting.  The consultation indicated that this requirement could be introduced from 

2023/24, however, the Government has not yet published its response to the consultation.  

1.26 In view of the above, the trial was suspended at the end of March 2022.  Once the results 

of the DEFRA consultation are published, the future roll out of a mandatory food waste 

collection scheme will be further considered.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee have received progress updates over 

the course of the trial.   

2.2 A survey of participating households was undertaken during the trial. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 This report provides a summary of the trial and is for information only. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The Committee are asked to note the report and provide any feedback. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 As the trial has now been suspended pending further direction from DEFRA as part of 

their consultation response, it is appropriate to provide a summary of the outcomes. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 It is intended that the findings of the trial will also be presented to the Lincolnshire Waste 

Partnership.  

 

30



 

 
 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 As the trial has now been suspended there are no direct financial implications associated 

with this report.   It is anticipated that the future roll out of a mandatory national scheme 

will be subject to new burdens funding from Government. The financial implications of this 

will be considered further when details of the requirements are known.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Assistant Director of 

Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The Environment Act 2021 places requirements on local authorities in respect of the 

separate collection food waste. 

8.2 The Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) consulted on the 

implementation requirements for the separate collection of food waste in July 2021 but 

have not yet provided a response.    

Legal Implications reviewed by: Alan Robinson Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 No equality and safeguarding implications have been identified. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 This report is for information only following the suspension of the trial.  No significant risks 

have been identified as a result of this report. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 No community safety implications have been identified. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 The food waste trial encouraged the recycling of food that would otherwise be disposed of 

in the residual waste black bins which is subsequently processed at an energy from waste 

plant.  This is a form of recovery rather than recycling, but is preferable to landfill.  

12.2 The separated food waste was recycled at an aerobic digestion plant, providing biogas for 

energy.    

12.3 The use of vehicles with separate collection pods as opposed to dedicated vehicles meant 

there was no net increase in vehicles, however, due to reduced capacity additional 

journeys were required to offload the material.  

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 No significant implications have been identified. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Report to Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 25 February 2020 

14.2 Report to Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 17 September 2019 

14.3 Report to Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 18 June 2019 

31

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MID=3826
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MID=3784
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MID=3762


 

 
 

14.4 Report to Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 22 January 2019 

14.5 Report to Cabinet, 11 January 2018 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix 1 – Food Waste Trial Consultation Report, October 2019 

 

 

 

 

32

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MID=3690
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MID=3503#AI20618


Appendix One   

 

FOOD WASTE 

TRIAL 

CONSULTATION 
OCTOBER 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

33

Appendix 1



 
 

1 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 

Table of Contents 

 Page 

Purpose and Objectives 2 

Methodology 2 

Details 3 

Results 5 - 14 

Conclusion 15 

  

34



 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

Purpose 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to update members of South Kesteven District Council, Lincolnshire 

County Council and Lincolnshire Waste Partnership with the results of the food waste trial 

consultation. 

Scope 

2. The scope of this consultation was restricted to householders who are on collection round 31 of 

South Kesteven District Council’s household waste and recycling collection service. It included 

households who chose to take part in the trial, as well as those who chose not to. 

Objectives 

3. The objectives of the consultation were identified as follows: 

• To inform all households on round 3 of the district council’s waste and recycling collection 

round that the trial will continue for another year (until June 2020) 

• To communicate some of the outcomes of the scheme to date to those on the scheme – 

tonnes of food waste collected etc 

• To inform the evaluation of the scheme’s effectiveness (alongside several other measures)  

• To find out why people chose to take part, what they liked about the scheme, what they 

didn’t like and what improvements could be made  

• To identify what might make the scheme more attractive  

• To find out why people chose not to take part, what they didn’t like about the scheme and 

what might encourage them to participate going forward 

Timescales 

4. Preparatory work was undertaken during April and May 2019. The consultation was open for just 

under a month – from the beginning till the end of June 2019.  Printed responses were then input 

during July, with results being made available for a presentation to the Department for the 

Environment, Fisheries and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) on 20th August 2019. These were also supplied to 

a meeting of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 17 September 2019.  

Methodology 
 

5. Several approaches were considered. These included: 

•  visiting a small number of households on the trial to discuss the food waste trial face to face 

•  contacting all households on the trial by letter and asking them to respond to a survey via a 

weblink 

and the approach that was adopted which was 

 
1 Round 3 was chosen as it has a mix of properties in both rural and urban locations and was thought to be 
representative of Lincolnshire 

35



 
 

3 | P a g e  
 

• Contacting all households on round 3 by letter. The letter included a weblink so that those 

who preferred to respond online were able to, but they were also able to complete a printed 

copy of the survey and return it using the pre-paid envelope provided if they wanted to. 

Details 

6. To help Lincolnshire Waste Partnership evaluate the food waste trial, the consultation officer was 

asked to consult householders on round 3 about the food waste trial, during June 2019. Actions 

undertaken included: 

• Preparing, designing and setting up the on- line survey 

• Preparing, designing and setting up the printed version of the survey and the letter 

• Ensuring the database was accurate2  

• Commissioning Paragon3 to contact, print and dispatch surveys to all households identified 

• Inputting and analysing feedback from 1,260 households 

• Preparing a report 

 

7. The letter contained the following: 

• A thank you for participating 

• An undertaking that the trial will continue until June 2020 

• Statistics about the scheme – percentages of waste diverted from the waste stream etc 

• A weblink which directed households to the council’s website so that they could respond on 

line if they wanted to  

• A printed copy of the survey with a prepaid envelope so that households could respond by 

post if they preferred 

 

8. The survey included the following sections: 

• An introduction. This included the purpose of the consultation, why we needed their help 

and how their feedback will be used to inform the evaluation that will take place 

• An overview of the trial to date. This included the percentage of households taking part, the 

amount of waste that has been diverted from landfill and the impact the scheme has had on 

the percentage of waste that is recycled. 

• A section identifying the approximate frequency of participation (enabling cross tabulation 

of the results for both participants and non- participants) 

• A section for those who took part in the scheme 

• A section for those who didn’t participate in the scheme 

• A section asking for respondents’ overall opinions 

• Demographic information 

• A section asking if respondents had any questions 

 
2 Database excluded those who had contacted the council because they didn’t want to take part and those who lived 

in flats with communal waste facilities  

3 Paragon Customer Communications -based in Peterborough. Printed and dispatched all survey materials for £2,870 

36



 
 

4 | P a g e  
 

• A thank you and closing date for the consultation 

9. The letter, survey and prepaid envelope were dispatched to 4,1594 households during the first week 

of June.  

10. The consultation closed on 30th June 2019. 1,260 responses were received, a response rate of 30.3%. 

Most households (1,163 or 92.3%) completed the postal survey with 97 households (7.7%) choosing 

to complete the survey via a weblink as illustrated in the infographics below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
4 The total number of households on collection round 3 is 4,260. Excluding those who had contacted the council and 
stated that they didn’t want to take part, households with communal waste facilities and duplicate addresses, the 
number of households contacted was 4,159. 

37



 
 

5 | P a g e  
 

The results  

Section 1 - Participation 

11. The first question on the survey asked respondents to state whether their household has been 

taking part in the food waste trial, or not and the extent of participation. Over 90% (93.2%) stated 

that they had taken part in the food trial either every week, or when necessary, as illustrated below: 

 

12. Those who answered that they had taken part were asked to complete section 2. Those who hadn’t 

taken part were asked to go straight to section 3.  

 

Section 2 – Taking part 

13. Respondents were then asked to identify why they had chosen to take part in the trial. They could 

choose as many reasons as they wanted. Doing the right thing for the environment was the most 

popular reason for taking part, as shown overleaf: 

 

yes,every week
86%

yes, but not every 
week

7%
no we tried once 

or twice , but 
didnt get on with 

it
2%

no, my household 
has never 

participated 
5%

Taking part in the food waste trial

38



 
 

6 | P a g e  
 

 

14. An analysis of the responses under “other” revealed that other motivating factors were: 

• The black bin doesn’t smell (chosen by 23 respondents) 

• Because the trial is good for the environment (chosen by 10 respondents) 

• Taking part in a similar scheme where they lived previously (chosen by 6 respondents) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6.1

12.3

30.3

41.5

43.6

44.8

82.1

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

other

because the amount of food waste my household
produces is significant

because I want to try and reduce the amount of food
waste my household produces

because I knew what should be put in the caddy and 
what shouldn’t

because you asked me to

because it reduces the amount of waste I put in my
black bin

because I think it’s the right thing to do for the 
environment

percentage of respondents choosing reason for 
participation

A significant proportion of respondents are motivated by environmental concerns. 

 More than 8 out of 10 respondents (82.1%) chose to take part in the trial because they think it is the 

right thing to do for the environment. It is perhaps worth noting that this was the most popular 

choice, attracting more responses than the more practical considerations – because it reduces the 

amount of waste they put in their black bin and makes space for other non -recyclable waste, for 

example.  

Just under a third of respondents (30.3%) chose to take part because they actively want to try and 

reduce the amount of food waste their household produces and think this scheme will help them to 

do this – thereby reducing the impact of the food waste their household generates, on the 

environment.  

39



 
 

7 | P a g e  
 

15. Respondents were then asked to identify what they liked about the scheme. There was strong 

support for all elements of the scheme with percentages ranging from 68.9% stating that they 

liked that enough liners have been provided, and that they can get more if needed, through to 

91.7% of respondents stating that they liked that food waste is collected weekly. The results are 

illustrated in infographics below:  

 

 

 

40



 
 

8 | P a g e  
 

16. An analysis of responses under “other” revealed other things respondents liked about the scheme 

were: 

• Food waste is being put to good use 

• That they are doing their bit for the environment 

• It is easy to take part 

• That their black bin is cleaner 

 

 

 

 

 

17. When asked to identify what they don’t like about the trial, the top three comments were all 

related to the liners that have been supplied as part of the trial. These were: 

• The quality and strength of the liners  

• The size of the liners  

• That they needed more liners and weren’t sure how to get them  

18. Respondents were then asked to describe what steps could be taken to improve the scheme. The 

top three were: 

• To improve the quality and strength of the liners supplied 

• To increase the size of the liners 

• To extend the trial and include more households in the scheme 

 

 

 

 

 

 The positive feedback received on each of the various parameters of the scheme (liners that are 

provided free of charge, the ability to request more liners if they are needed, the provision of 

separate caddies for inside and outside peoples’ properties, lockable caddies and weekly collection) is 

both important and valuable. 

It is important because it shows that there is strong support for each of the various parameters of the 

scheme. This may help to explain the high levels of participation.  

It is valuable because it provides feedback from existing participants. This can be used to inform an 

extension of the trial, to other areas of the district. 

 The responses to questions 17 and 18 illustrate that there does appear to be an issue with the 

strength, size and overall quality of the liners that have been provided as part of the scheme. They 

have been the item most frequently mentioned by respondents as needing improvement, and the 

one thing they dislike most about the scheme. As such, it may be prudent to review the liners that 

are provided, prior to extending the scheme to other parts of the district. 

41



 
 

9 | P a g e  
 

19. When asked if they thought that taking part in the food waste trial had reduced the amount of 

food waste their household produces, around two thirds of respondents (65.9%) thought that it 

hadn’t. Below are reasons given by respondents which are indicative. They included: 

 

 

  

 

Three out of ten respondents (28.6%) thought that the amount of food waste their household had 

gone down as a result of the trial. Reasons given by respondents included: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 3 – Not taking part  

20. Question 8 asked householders to identify the reasons for not taking part. The graph overleaf 

shows the numbers of respondents who chose each of the options. The most popular choices 

were:  

• Because they compost the food waste their household produces 

• Because the amount of food waste their household produces is so small 

• Because their household doesn’t produce any food waste 

 
“Because I just do the same as I have always done” 

“Because our household has always tried hard not to waste food 

“Because I compost any surplus waste” 

 

“Because we have the bins, we are more aware of our food waste, and have 

changed our shopping habits. We buy less, more frequently and use it in good 

time” 

“We try to use all leftovers” 

 

 The responses to this question are interesting.  Just under 30% (28.3%) of respondents reported that 

their behaviour had changed as a result of the trial, and that the amount of food waste they 

generated had gone down. This is interesting because it is almost the same as the proportion of 

respondents who have taken part in the trial because they want to try and reduce the amount of 

food waste their household generates (30.3%).  Two thirds of respondents (65.9%) however, stated 

that the trial had not changed their behaviour and consequently had not had an impact on the 

amount of food waste generated by their household.  This finding backs up the figures on the 

tonnage that has been collected (which have not shown a marked reduction).  

42



 
 

10 | P a g e  
 

 

Those choosing “other” did so because they were not included in the scheme (13), they were disabled 

(2), they had recently moved in (2) and various other reasons. 

21. Respondents were then asked what would encourage them to take part in any future food waste 

recycling schemes. The most popular responses were: 

• I would take part if I had received the caddies 

• I would take part if the quality of the liners was improved 

• Nothing, as my household doesn’t generate enough food waste 

 

 

 

 

 

22. When asked to describe what they liked about the scheme, the small number of respondents 

answering this question liked the fact that it resulted in a reduction in the amount of waste they 

would put in their black bin, which in turn meant that the black bins were less smelly. They also 

liked the fact that the scheme would result in less waste being sent to landfill (which it isn’t) and 

that waste is collected weekly. 

1

4

6

7

7

10

12

23

28

39

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45

because I wasn’t sure about what should go in the 
food waste caddy

because I didn’t know about the scheme

because I didn’t want to

because the negatives of the scheme outweigh the
positives

because I didn’t have space for the caddies

because I have plenty of capacity in my black bin

because my household doesn’t produce any food 
waste

because the amount of food waste my household
produces is so small

because I compost any food waste my household
produces

other, please specify

No of respondents choosing reason 

 These responses illustrate that some would take part if the caddies were delivered to them so those 

supplying their details have been contacted by the refuse and recycling customer services operative 

and asked if they would like to join. There does also appear to be an issue with the strength and 

quality of the liners, which is preventing some from taking part in the scheme. This issue probably 

merits further consideration. 

 

43



 
 

11 | P a g e  
 

23. Question 11 asked respondents to identify what they didn’t like about the scheme. They could 

choose as many elements as they liked from the following and were also asked if there were any 

other reasons. The quality of the liners, along with the smelliness and messiness of the trial were 

the most popular reasons as shown below: 

  

  

  

Section 4 – Your opinion overall 
  

24. South Kesteven District Council, Lincolnshire County Council and the Lincolnshire 
Waste Partnership wanted to know the extent to which respondents agreed or 
disagreed with the trial, in principle. 96% of respondents supported the scheme, as 
illustrated overleaf:  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

15

16

16

24

30

34

37

47

69

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80

The size of the caddies

It's unhygienic

it attracts vermin

other, please specify

The number of liners that were provided

the flies/maggots

Its messy

Its smelly

the quality of the liners that were provided

What respondents didn't like about the scheme

44



 
 

12 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

The main reason for citing this opinion is reflected in the word cloud overleaf. Respondents agree with the 

trial because they think it is the right thing to do for the environment, because it is easy to take part and 

because it diverts refuse away from landfill (which it doesn’t as residual waste is sent to an incinerator).  

  
 
 
 
 

I strongly agree with 
SKDC's food waste 

trial
78%

I agree with SKDC's 
food waste trial

18%I don't have an 
opinion either way

2%

I don't agree with 
SKDC's food waste 

trial
1%

I strongly disagree 
with SKDC's food 

waste trial
1%

Overall opinion of food waste trial

 This is an interesting result as it illustrates the overwhelming degree of support for the food waste 

trial, from those who chose to take part in the trial but also from those who didn’t. The 

overwhelming majority of respondents (1,147 or 95.9%) agreed with the trial.  A very small number 

of respondents (19 or 1.6%) didn’t support the trial.  

 

45



 
 

13 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 

Section 5 - Demographics 

25. To see if the households who participated in this trial are representative of the households in our 

area, respondents were asked to supply some demographic information.  

 

Gender 

The table below shows the percentage of respondents choosing each option compared to the 

gender characteristics of the district. It shows that the proportion of female respondents is 

representative, but the proportion of male respondents is slightly lower than it should be.  

 

Gender Sample % District % 

Male 32.9 47.7 

Female 67.1 52.3 

   

Total 100.0 100.0 

 

Age Band 

The table overleaf shows the percentage of respondents choosing each option compared to the 

age characteristics of the district. It shows that the sample is representative of those aged between 

45 and 64, but the proportion of respondents under 35 is lower than it should be. It is important to 

46



 
 

14 | P a g e  
 

acknowledge that there will be other factors influencing this – the average age at which people 

move out of family homes, for example.  

Age Band Sample % District % 

18 to 24 0.1 7.7 

25 to 34 3.9 12.9 

35 to 44 9.4 14.4 

45 to 54 17.4 19.0 

55 to 64   20.8 17.4 

65 and over 48.4 28.6 

   

Total 100.0 100 

 

Disability 

The table below illustrates that those with a disability are slightly under-represented in the sample, 

those without are not. This should be borne in mind - particularly prior to extending the scheme to 

other areas of the district. 

 

Do you consider yourself 
to have a disability 

Sample % Nationwide 
% 

Yes 10.4 21.0 

No 89.6 79.0 

   

Total 100.0 100.0 

 

Tenure 

When asked to describe the property they live in, the majority of respondents lived in 

accommodation that was owned outright or with a mortgage or loan. The table below shows that 

in the sample, the proportion of households owned outright is slightly higher than the national 

average and the proportion of properties privately rented is lower.  

Tenure Sample % Nationwide % 

Owned outright 61.5 38.4 

Owned with a mortgage 
or loan 

25.6 32.8 

Shared ownership 1.4 0.8 

Social rented 5.2 9.8 

Privately rented 6.0 14.7 

Living rent free 0.3 0.1 

Other, please specify 0 3.4 

   

Total 100.0 100 

 
 

47



 
 

15 | P a g e  
 

Section 6 – Anything else 

Conclusion 
 

26. One of the main objectives of this consultation was to inform the evaluation of the scheme’s 

effectiveness (alongside several other measures). By: 

• establishing why people chose to take part, what they liked about the scheme, what they 

didn’t like and what improvements could be made  

• identifying what might make the scheme more attractive  

• finding out why people chose not to take part, what they didn’t like about the scheme and 

what might encourage them to participate going forward 

the council can be confident that the views that have been collected will inform both the evaluation 

and any possible extension to the trial. 

27. It illustrates the degree of support the scheme has had from the households on collection round 3 

of the council’s waste and recycling service – why they chose to take part and what they liked 

about the scheme. It provided feedback on the things people didn’t like and what might 

encourage them to take part (if they weren’t already).  

A significant proportion of respondents are motivated by environmental concerns and there has 

been strong support for each of the various parameters of the scheme - including weekly 

collection and providing separate caddies for inside and outside peoples’ properties. This is backed 

up by the responses to question 12 which asked respondents for their overall opinion on the food 

waste trial.   The vast majority (1,147 or 95.9%) agreed with the trial.  A very small number of 

respondents (19 or 1.6%) didn’t support the trial.  

 

28. There does however appear to be an issue with the strength and quality of the liners that have 

been supplied as part of the food waste trial. It was the top reason given for non-participation in 

the trial and improving the quality of liners was also one of the reasons cited by respondents when 

asked what would encourage them to take part in a food waste trial in the future. This issue 

should be considered prior to extending the scheme to other areas. 

 

29. The demographic characteristics of the sample and how they compare to district or nationwide 

statistics should also be taken into consideration. The sample is representative in some areas but 

not in others. This needs to be borne in mind when evaluating the scheme. 

 

30. The feedback gathered from this consultation should now be considered in detail, and alongside 

other outcomes, used to inform the future of SKDC’s trial.   

 

Prepared by Deb Wyles 

Communications and Consultation 

October 2019 

 

 

48



 

 

 

Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 
10 May 2022 

Report of: Councillor Mark Whittington 

  Cabinet Member for Waste and Climate Change 

         
  

 

Environment Act 2021 - Update 

This report supports a Power Point presentation outlining the waste management elements of the 
Environment Act 2021 and associated consultations from the Department for the Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs. 
 
 

 

Report Author 

Anne-Marie Coulthard, Assistant Director of Operations and Public Protection 

 
 01476 406319 

  a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

A Clean and Sustainable 
Environment 

Regulatory All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Ayeisha Kirkham, Public Protection Manager  28 April 2022 

Approved by: Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive 29 April 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Mark Whittington, Cabinet Member for 
Waste and Climate Change 

28 April 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Notes the presentation relating to the waste management elements of the 
Environment Act 2021 

2. Agrees to receive a further update after the Department for the Environment, Food 
and Rural Affairs has published responses to its ‘Consistency in Household and 
Business Recycling’ and ‘Deposit Return Scheme’ consultations.     

49

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Environment Act 2021 received royal assent in November 2021.  During May and 

June 2021, the Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) 

commenced three public consultations intended to support the implementation of the 

legislation; 

• Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England 

• Introducing Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) 

• Introducing a Deposit Return Scheme (DRS)   

1.2 DEFRA are analysing the responses which are expected in early 2022.  To date, a 

response has been received in respect of the EPR consultation only.  

1.3 The presentation at Appendix 1 provides a summary of the proposals contained in the 

consultations.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee received a presentation on the 

content of the consultations at their meeting of 8 June 2021.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 This report and presentation are for information only.   

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 This report and presentation are for information only.   

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 To provide the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee with an update on the 

DEFRA consultations relating to waste management.   

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 It is intended that a further report will be presented to the Committee following the 

publication of the consultation responses by DEFRA.   

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 There are no financial implications as a direct result of this report. The financial 

implications of the consultation responses will be considered further when the results are 

published.   

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Assistant Director of 

Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The Environment Act 2021 places requirements on local authorities in respect of the 

separate collection of waste.  

8.2 The Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) consulted on the 

implementation requirements in summer 2021 but have not yet provided a response.    

Legal Implications reviewed by: Alan Robinson Monitoring Officer 

50



 

 
 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 No equality and safeguarding implications have been identified.  

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 This report is for information only.  No significant risks have been identified as a result of 

this report. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 No community safety implications have been identified.  

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 This report is for information only.  Future reports following the publication of the 

consultation responses by DEFRA will consider the impacts.   

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 No other significant implications have been identified.  

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Presentation to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 8 June 2021 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix 1 – Power Point presentation  “The Environment Act 2021 – Update”  

 

 

 

 

51

ENV814%20Environment%20Act%202021%20update.docx


This page is intentionally left blank



The Environment Act 2021 - Update

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee

10 May 2022

53

A
ppendix 1



Environment Act 2021

• A framework for protecting and enhancing the natural environment 

through long-term, legally binding targets.

• DEFRA required to set legally binding environmental targets by late 

2022 

• Main provisions relating to waste management

– Improved consistency in recycling collections

– Enhanced producer responsibility (EPR)

– Deposit return schemes (DRS) 

• DEFRA consulted on proposals in summer 2021 

• Results of consultations expected early 2022

• EPR consultation response received  - to be implemented in a phased 

manner from 2024

54



Improved Consistency in Recycling Collections

Consultation proposals (response awaited): 

o Free of charge fortnightly garden waste collections during growing 

season 

o Separate weekly food waste collections would become mandatory for 

all households by 2023

o Core set of recyclables to be collected separately (glass, plastic, metal 

and paper/card) by 2023/24 

o Flexible plastics such as plastic film for collection by no later than 

2026/27

o Business premises will also have to separate their waste for collection 

55



Enhanced Producer Responsibility (EPR) 

Consultation response received 26 March 2022

• Reforms to be implemented from 2024

• Producers to pay the costs of managing household packaging waste

• Payments to local authorities for collection of household packaging 

waste and “on the go” packaging disposed of in street bins (excludes 

littering) 

• Modulated fees to incentivise the use of recyclable packaging (from 

2025 instead of 2024) 

• Mandatory takeback scheme for the collection and recycling of fibre-

based composite cups (disposable coffee cups)

• Mandatory labelling of packaging for recyclability with a single 

labelling format

• Annual packaging waste recycling targets to 2030

• Appointment of a Scheme Administrator

56



Deposit Return Schemes (DRS)

Consultation proposals (response awaited):

• Consumer pays a deposit on purchase of drink in single use container 

and reclaims on return of empty

• Producers would sign up to a deposit management organisation 

(DMO) to which they would have to report and pay a fee

• Retailers would be required to accept all DRS containers returned to 

their store and add the deposit price to the purchase price

• All retailers that sold drinks covered by the DRS would be required to 

take returns either by a reverse vending machine or manually

• Mandatory labelling would be required so that retailers, consumers 

and those recycling or reusing containers could identify containers 

easily

• Local authorities can still expect some containers destined for the 

DRS to enter household waste streams (potential reimbursement 

linked to EPR)

57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 
10th May 2022 

Report of: Councillor Mark Whittington 

  Cabinet Member for Waste and Climate Change 

         
  

 

Progress update on climate change ambitions 

This report aims to provide a short update on workstreams impacting on South Kesteven District 
Council’s climate change and carbon reduction ambitions.  

 

 

Report Author 

Serena Brown, Sustainability and Climate Change Officer 

 
 01476 406125 

  Serena.brown@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

A Clean and Sustainable 
Environment  

Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Gareth Dawkins, Interim Assets and Estates Manager 21 April 2022 

Approved by: Andrew Cotton, Director of Housing and Property 25 April 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Mark Whittington, Cabinet Member for 
Waste and Climate Change 

29 April 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Notes the updates regarding climate change and carbon emissions reduction 
across areas of South Kesteven District Council.  

59

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 Opportunities are being explored by the Lincolnshire Sustainability Officers Group to work 

jointly on communication, education and engagement opportunities around climate change 

within Lincolnshire. The group includes membership from Lincolnshire County Council 

alongside district officers across Greater Lincolnshire, University of Lincoln, and 

Lincolnshire Partnerships NHS Foundation Trust, and therefore offers strong opportunities 

to engage a large number of residents in a wider coherent climate change message. 

1.2 The Council intends to shortly commence an efficiency review of the fleet of vehicles, with 

support from the Energy Saving Trust. This is free to eligible Councils with significant 

vehicle fleets, to encourage a reduction in direct carbon emissions and improve 

operational issues. The review is expected to examine operational opportunities to reduce 

mileage and to consider the optimal size of the overall fleet. There is also the opportunity 

to consider the best approach for electrification of vehicles, including infrastructure 

requirements. The fuel consumed by the Council’s vehicle fleet accounts for around 25% 

of the carbon emissions baseline, and it is expected the review will help to signal 

opportunities for carbon emissions reductions both in the short and long terms.  

1.3 Plans are proceeding to complete the planned upgrade of lighting to energy efficient LEDs 

in Guildhall Arts Centre. The budget for this was agreed from the climate change reserve 

fund of £20,000, from the 2020/21 financial year. Once works are complete, the 

subsequent reduction in electricity use will help to reduce the Council’s carbon emissions 

as well as providing an improved environment for building occupants. The Council is 

continuing to review opportunities to decarbonise Council assets further, including making 

use of grant funding opportunities where possible. 

1.4 Further to the update previously provided to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on 8 March 2022, the Council has been updated by the Woodland Trust 

regarding the Local Authority Emergency Tree Fund, to which an application was 

submitted in November 2021. There have been a number of applications from local 

authorities into this funding stream, which aims to boost the capacity of councils around 

tree planting and supportive policy development for trees. We are expecting a further 

outcome on the status of the application in June 2022. 

1.4.1 We have also been made aware that the application for Lincolnshire for the Trees Call to 

Action Fund, submitted by Lincolnshire County Council with district partners, was 

unfortunately not successful on this occasion. Other opportunities to further tree planting 

work and support capacity continue to be explored.  

1.4.2 Data is now being collated towards the production of the Council’s carbon footprint report 

for the financial year of 2021/22. Several datasets see a lag time of reporting into the new 

financial year. The updated dataset on district wide carbon emissions, published annually 

by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) is expected to be 

published in late summer, with South Kesteven’s report included alongside our operational 

carbon emissions. An update will be provided to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee in autumn. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee received a verbal update on 8 March 2022 

covering a number of items affecting the Council’s work on climate change.  

60



 

 
 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 Not applicable for update report. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 Not applicable for update report. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 Not applicable for update report. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Not applicable for update report. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 A £20k budget was approved as part of the 2022/23 budget setting process to fund 

climate change initiatives.  Any projects identified which exceed this budget will be subject 

to a separate business case to demonstrate affordability and payback. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Assistant Director of 

Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 There are no significant legal and governance implications of the outlined initiatives. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance 

and Deputy Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 No issues identified. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 No issues identified. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 None expected. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Each of the initiatives outlined hopes to reduce carbon emissions from council operations 

or from the wider district. 

 

 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

N/A 

Previously Considered by: Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

8 March 2022 

Final Decision date   N/A 

 

61



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

Government Consultation on Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle 
Licensing Best Practice Guidance for Licensing Authorities  

The Department for Transport have issued a consultation document reviewing the Best Practice 
Guidance for Licensing Authorities in England. A presentation has been produced to support the 
consideration of the response.    
 

Report Author 

Heather Green, Licensing Team Leader  

 
 01476 406080 

  licensing@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Healthy & Strong 
Communities 

Regulatory All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Ayeisha Kirkham, Head of Public Protection  29 April 2022 

Approved by: Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive   29 April 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Linda Wootten,  Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Governance and Licensing  

29 April 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

 

1. Agrees the response to the Department for Transport Consultation on the Taxi & 
Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Best Practice Guidance for Licensing Authorities, 
with or without amendments. 

63

Agenda Item 10

mailto:licensing@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Department for Transport (DfT) first issued best practice guidance to licensing 

authorities in 2006, which was refreshed in 2010.  

1.2 Much has changed in the hackney carriage and private hire industry over the intervening 

years and the DfT has updated the guidance document to reflect new ways of working, new 

technology.    

1.3 The DfT are seeking views via this consultation on a new best practice guidance for hackney 

carriage and private hire licensing authorities.  It is a public consultation enabling all 

interested parties, including the public, operators, drivers and representative bodies such 

as the Disables Persons’ Transport Advisory Committee (DPTAC) to respond.  

1.4 The Consultation closes on 20 June 2022.  

1.5 Appendix 1 provides a proposed response to the consultation based on the Council’s 

current policy.    

1.6 The presentation at Appendix 2 provides information taken from the consultation document 

and background to support the proposed answers.   

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 A presentation is attached providing both the consultation questions, background 

information and proposed response for consideration by the Environment Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 The Council is not obliged to submit a response.  However, should a response be 

considered appropriate the proposed responses can be agreed as stated or amended by 

the committee.  

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 That a response is submitted with or without amendments.   

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 Providing a response allows the Council the opportunity to feed into the best practice review.  

The proposed responses have been developed with consideration given to the Council’s 

current Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy which was adopted in 2021. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 A South Kesteven District Council response will be submitted electronically as directed by 

the DfT.  

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 There are no direct financial implications associated with this report.   

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 There is no statutory requirement to submit a response to the consultation.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Alan Robinson, Monitoring Officer  

64



 

 
 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 This report provides a response to a Government Consultation. Any future changes to the 

Council’s policy as a result of the revised best practice will consider the potential equality 

and safeguarding implications.  

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 No significant risks have been identified in relation to replying to this consultation. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 No significant risks have been identified in relation to replying to this consultation.  

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 This report provides a response to a Government Consultation.  Any future changes to the 

Council’s policy as a result of the revised best practice will consider the potential impacts 

on the declaration.  

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 No other implications identified in relation to replying to this consultation.  

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy  

14.2 Department for Transport Consultation document   

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix 1 – Consultation Questions & Proposed Response  

Appendix 2 – Presentation  

Appendix 3 – Daily Vehicle Inspection Log  

 

 

 

 

 

65

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=28058&p=0
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-best-practice-guidance


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Appendix 1 – Consultation Questions and Proposed Responses  

 

1. In your view, should licensing authorities introduce Inclusive 
Service Plans for hackney carriages and private hire vehicles 
(PHV’s)?  

Yes  

 

2. Do you agree that licensing authorities should introduce the 
accessibility measures proposed in the best practice guide?  

Yes 

3. In your view, are there any other measures licensing authorities 
should take to improve accessibility of taxis and PHV’s? 

No 

4. Do you agree that any points incurred through a points-based 
enforcement regime should remain on the record for 3 years for 
drivers from the date of the incident?  

Yes 

5. Do you agree that any points incurred through a points-based 
enforcement regime should remain on the record for 5 years for 
PHV operators from the date of the incident? 

Yes 

6. Do you agree licensing authorities should require taxi and PHV 
drivers, as professional drivers, to evidence a higher degree of 
driving ability than is required for private hire motorists?  

Yes 

7. Do you agree that licensing authorities should not require drivers 
to obtain a vocational qualification?  

Yes 

8. In your view should a PHV driver be required to pass some form 
of topographical knowledge test?  

No 

9. If a PHV driver has to pass a topographical test, should this be 
the same test as a taxi driver? Or, should it evaluate the 
candidate’s ability to plan a route or safely use a navigation 
system?  

No 

10. Do you agree licensing authorities should require drivers to 
conduct daily checks on their vehicle similar to the checklist 
provided?  

Yes 

11. What, if any, comments do you have on the vehicle condition 
checklist?  

None  

12. Do you agree licensing authorities should consider the safety 
benefits to passengers, drivers and pedestrians of vehicles 
which have received a higher Euro NCAP rating (where these 
have been assessed) when setting its vehicle requirements?  

Yes 

13. Do you agree that each person, regardless of age, should be 
counted as a passenger?  

Yes 

14. Do you agree taxis and private hire vehicles should not be 
licensed to carry more people than the number of seats and 
seatbelts available?  

Yes 

15. Do you agree that licensing authorities should only require the 
removal of ‘factory fitted’ tinted windows as part of vehicle 
specifications if it can evidence that this is necessary and 
proportionate?  

Yes 

67

Appendix 1



 

 
 

16. Do you agree licensing authorities should, where possible, 
obtain details of vehicle tests, including failures?  

Yes 

17. Do you agree licensing authorities should require testing stations 
to provide the outcomes of all examinations carried out, 
including where vehicles were subject to advisory notices?  

Yes 

18. Do you agree licensing authorities should not impose age limits 
for the licensing of vehicles?  

No 

19. Do you agree licensing authorities should not permit roof signs 
of any kind on PHV’s? 

Yes 

20. Do you agree that licensing authorities should not impose a 
livery requirement on PHV’s? 

Yes 

21. Do you agree that private hire vehicle signage requirements 
should be limited to the authority licence plate or disc and a ‘pre-
booked only’ door sign?  

No 

22. Do you agree that licensing authorities should not require the 
displaying of private hire operator details on vehicle?  

Yes 

23. Do you agree that when an exclusive relationship exists 
between the vehicle proprietor, driver and operator, licensing 
authorities should permit the display of private hire vehicle 
operator details in a discreet manner?  

Yes 

24. Do you agree with our suggested practice regarding the use of 
the words taxi or cab, as well as similar meaning words, for 
display on private hire vehicles? 

Yes  

25. Do you agree that taxis and private hire vehicle with internal 
combustion engines should be tested more frequently than 
annually?  

Yes 

26. Do you agree that taxi rank provision should be reviewed every 
3 years?  

Yes 

27. What, if any, comments do you have on the model bylaws? No 
comment 

28. What, if any, comments do you have on the sample notices? No 
comment 

29. What, if any, comments do you have on the staying safe 
guidance for taxi drivers?  

No 
comment 

30. What, if any, comments do you have on the staying safe 
guidance for private hire vehicle trade? 

No 
comment 

31. What, if any, comments do you have on the questions for 
assessing taxi quantity controls?  

No 
comment 

Final 
comments  

4.11 – Limited definition of assistance dogs; Potentially insufficient to comply 
with s168-170 (Assistance Dogs in Taxis) of the Equality Act 2010 

7.2 – The fit and proper test for an Operator should reference the 
requirements of the DfT Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Standards.  The draft 
best practice guidance only refers to checks of Companies House information  

68



 

 
 

8.28 and 8.51 – to ensure a consistent approach to the transition towards zero 
emissions, there would be benefit in setting a national standard and phased 
timescale to support this  

Consideration of Government grant funding to support the trade in this 
transition. 

 
 

69



This page is intentionally left blank



Hackney Carriage & Private Hire 

Vehicle Licensing 

Consultation on Best Practice 

Guidance for Licensing 

Authorities in England 
(Issued 28 March 2022 )

71

A
ppendix 2



About the Consultation 

Taxis and private hire vehicles (PHVs) play an important role in enabling people 

to move about, allowing them to travel safety and easily. 

Much has changed in the industry and the Department for Transport (DfT) is 

taking this opportunity to update the guidance to ensure it reflects new ways of 

working, new technology and feedback from interested parties.

The DfT are seeking views on the new best practice guidance for taxi and PHV 

licensing authorities and any evidence that supports them.  

A link to the 2022 consultation document: Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 

Licensing - Best Practice Guidance . 

72

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1063053/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-consulting-on-best-practice-guidance-for-licensing-authorities-in-England.pdf


About the presentation 

The questions posed in the consultation are shown with a suggested

response. This will be amended if the committee decide differently.

Salient points relevant to each of the questions have been provided for

information.

Suggested responses to proposals which are already part of the Council’s

approved Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy follow the

existing policy.

73



Section 4: Accessibility 

Consultation Question: 

1. In your view, should licensing authorities introduce Inclusive 

Service Plans for taxis and PHV’s ? 

2. Do you agree that licensing authorities should introduce the 

accessibility measures proposed in the best practice guidance ? 

Yes/No

3. In your view, are there are any other measures licensing authorities 

should take to improve accessibility of taxi and PHV’s

Yes/No – Not at this time, if the consultation proposals are 

adopted

74



Section 4: Accessibility 

Disabled people can be very reliant upon taxi and private hire vehicles 

and the aim is to enable them travel around easily.

Proposals: 

• Consult with disabled passengers regularly on their experience (there is no 

definition of what ‘regularly’ means) (4.8)

• All licensing authorities should develop and maintain an Inclusive Service 

Plan – it would have to be made available on the authority’s website and in 

alternative accessible hard copy formats (4.17) & (4.19) – As the Transport 

Authority, Lincolnshire County Council is responsible for the Local Transport 

Plan 

• All drivers, operators, relevant authority policy makers and staff to complete 

disability awareness training (4.21), (6.3) & (7.3) 

75



Section 5: Enforcing the Licensing Regime 

Consultation Questions: 

4. Do you agree that any points incurred through a points-based 

enforcement regime should remain on the record for 3 years for 

drivers from the date of the incident ? 

5. Do you agree that any points incurred through a points-based 

enforcement regime should remain on the record for 5 years for 

PHV operators from the date of the incident ? 

Yes/No response for both questions

76



Section 5: Enforcing the Licensing Regime 

Implementing an effective framework, ensuring suitably trained decision 

makers and officials consider new applications and those already 

licensed display the behaviours and standards expected 

Proposals: 

• Some licensing authorities operate a points based system, which allows 

minor breaches of the rules to be recorded and considered in context, while 

referring those with persistent or serious breaches to the licensing 

committee.  This has the benefit of consistency in enforcement and makes 

better use of the licensing committee’s time (5.13)

• Points based enforcement system, with points remaining on  record for   

3yrs for drivers and 5yrs for operators (5.14) – SKDC currently operates this 

system, points remain on the licence for a rolling 12 months 

77



Section 6: Driver Licensing 

Consultation Questions: 

Driver Proficiency: 

6. Do you agree licensing authorities should require taxi and PHV 

drivers, as professional drivers to evidence a higher degree of 

driving ability than is required for private motorists ?  

Vocational training and assessment: 

7. Do you agree that licensing authorities should not require drivers 

to obtain a vocational qualification ? 

Yes/No response for both questions

78



Section 6: Driver Licensing 

The Road Safety Statement published in 2019 stated that “the need to 

improve safety does not end with the driving test; nor does it exclude 

those who drive or ride professionally or as part of their job” (taken from 

(6.6) of the consultation document)

Proposals: 

• Disability awareness training to be undertaken, a course created on 

behalf of the DfT should be considered (6.4)

• Vocational training qualifications provide a ‘snapshot’ of learning and 

the curriculum at the time. The training drivers require can evolve so 

vocational training may need to be supplemented.  Licensing authorities 

should not require applicants obtain vocational qualifications (6.22)

79



Section 6: Driver Licensing….cont’d

Consultation Questions: 

Topographical knowledge tests: 

8. In your view should a PHV driver be required to pass some form of 

topographical knowledge test ? 

9. If a PHV driver has to pass a topographical test, should this be the 

same test as a Hackney Carriage driver ? Or, should it evaluate the 

candidates ability to plan a route or safe use anavigation system ?

Yes/No response for both questions

Vehicle condition check 

10. Do you agree licensing authorities should require drivers to conduct 

daily checks on their vehicle similar to the checklist provided ? 

Yes/No 

11.    What, if any, comments to you have on the vehicle conditional 

checklist ? 

Annex E – Page 84 of the consultation document 

80

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1063053/taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-licensing-consulting-on-best-practice-guidance-for-licensing-authorities-in-England.pdf


Section 6: Driver Licensing….cont’d 

Drivers need a good working knowledge of the area for which they are 

licenced 

Proposals: 

• Hackney Carriages can be hired immediately, directly with the driver, at 

ranks or on the street so are unable to pre-prepare route.  Licensing 

Authorities should require a local topographical knowledge test at first grant 

of a licence (6.23) - SKDC policy currently requires this for Hackney Carriage 

drivers only

• A prospective passenger of a Private Hire Vehicle must go through an 

operator to book the vehicle, giving the driver time to pre-prepare the route.  

Licensing Authorities may set a PHV topographical test but are not required 

to do so (6.24) 

• The driver is legally responsible for the vehicles condition.  Licensing 

Authorities should require drivers to conduct a daily walkaround check/or 

when the driver takes charge of said vehicle (if more than one driver in a 

day) (6.28)

81



Section 8: Vehicle Licensing 

Consultation Questions: 

Vehicle safety ratings 

12. Do you agree licensing authorities should consider the safety 

benefits to passengers, drivers and pedestrians of vehicles which 

have received a higher Euro NCAP rating (where these have been 

assessed) when setting its vehicle requirements ? 

Seating Capacity 

13. Do you agree that each person, regardless of age should be counted 

as a passenger ? 

14. Do you agree that taxis and private hire vehicles should not be 

licensed to carry more people than the number of seats and seatbelts 

available ? 

Yes/No response for all questions

82



Section 8: Vehicle Licensing 

The legislation gives licensing authorities discretion over the types of 

vehicles it can licence as a taxis or private hire vehicle.

Proposals: 

• Euro NCAP is an independent, not for profit organisation widely 

recognised by the motor industry and road safety professionals as 

providing objective crash safety information. They rate on a 1-5 star 

rating basis different models of vehicle (8.6)

• Licensing authorities are responsible for deciding how many 

passengers a taxi or PHV is licenced to carry (8.9) – SKDC licenses 

issued according the number of seats detailed on the DVLA V5 vehicle log 

book up to a maximum of 8

83



Section 8: Vehicle Licensing….cont’d 

Consultation Questions 

Tinted windows

15. Do you agree that licensing authorities should only require the 

removal of ‘factory fitted’ tinted windows as part of vehicle 

specifications if it can evidence that this is necessary and 

proportionate ? 

Vehicle testing

16. Do you agree licensing authorities should, where possible, obtain 

details of vehicle tests, including failures ? 

17. Do you agree licensing authorities should require testing stations to 

provide the outcomes of all examinations carried out, including 

where vehicles were subject to advisory notices ? 

Yes/No response for all questions

84



Section 8: Vehicle Licensing….cont’d 

Tinted windows and vehicle testing

Proposals: 

• In the absence of evidence to show a requirement for the removal of 

factory fitted windows is necessary and proportionate, licensing 

authorities should not require their removal. However, authorities should 

carefully consider the views of the public and trade when considering 

‘after market’ tinting (8.16) - SKDC policy does not allow the addition of 

darkening film/tinting other than factory fitted

• Where possible obtain details of test failures (vehicle tests) (8.24) –

SKDC compliance tests currently require this

• Authorities should require testing stations to provide to them outcomes 

of all examinations carried out, this includes where vehicles were 

subject to advisory notices (8.26) - SKDC compliance test reports currently 

require this 

85



Section 8: Vehicle Licensing….cont’d 

Consultation Questions:

Vehicle age limits 

18. Do you agree licensing authorities should not impose age limits for 

the licensing of vehicles ?

Yes/No   (based on current policy)

Vehicle identification and signage 

19. Do you agree licensing authorities should not permit roof signs of 

any kind on PHV’s ?     Yes/No 

20. Do you agree that licensing authorities should not impose a livery 

requirement on PHV’s ?      Yes/No response for all questions

21. Do you agree that private hire vehicle signage requirements should   

limited to the authority licence plate or disc and a ‘pre-booked only’ 

door sign ? Yes/No 

22. Do you agree that licensing authorities should not require the 

displaying of private hire vehicle operator details on vehicle ?    

Yes/No 

86



Section 8: Vehicle Licensing….cont’d 

Proposals:

• The frequency of testing required to ensure the ongoing safety of vehicle is 

a separate issue to setting a maximum age at first licensing or beyond 

which an authority will not licence a vehicle (8.28) –SKDC policy set an age 

limit of 5years at first licensing and 10/12yrs at renewal

• Consider more targeted requirements to meet policy objectives on 

emissions, safety rating and increasing wheelchair provision where this is 

low. (8.29)

• Licensing authorities should not permit roof signs of any kind on PHVs 

(8.41) - SKDC policy complies 

• Licensing authorities private hire signage requirements should be limited to 

the authority licence plate or disc and a “pre-booked only” door sign (8.43) -

SKDC policy allows the display of company name etc. subject to conditions

• None display of operator details on private hire signage could result in 

passengers not knowing which vehicle they have booked (especially     

when leaving a large event and looking for a prebooked vehicle)

87



Section 8: Vehicle Licensing….cont’d 

Consultation Questions:

Vehicle identification and signage…cont’d 

23.Do you agree that when an exclusive relationship exists between the 

vehicle proprietor, driver and operator, licensing authorities should 

permit the display of private hire vehicle operator details in a discreet 

manner ?

Yes/No

24.Do you agree with the suggested practice regarding the use of words 

Taxi or cab, as well as similar meaning words, for display on 

private hire vehicles ? 

Yes/No 

88



Section 8: Vehicle Licensing….cont’d 

Proposals

• Private hire vehicle drivers are free to work with more than one operator 

and requirements for an exclusive relationship should not be 

implemented or discontinued (8.45) – SKDC policy does not restrict drivers 

from working for more than one operator 

• If a driver has an exclusive arrangement with a private hire operator 

they are free to decide whether to have the operators livery or none on 

their vehicle - SKDC policy allows the display of company name etc. subject 

to conditions

• The public can often confuse PHVs with Hackney Carriages.  Greater 

differentiation in signage will help the public differentiate between the 

two elements of the trade (8.40) - SKDC policy does not permit the use of 

Taxi, Cab or For Hire anywhere on a Private Hire vehicle 

89



Section 8: Vehicle Licensing….cont’d 

Consultation Question: 

Environmental considerations

25. Do you agree that taxi and private hire vehicle with internal 

combustion engines should be tested more frequently than 

annually ? 

Yes/No

90



Section 8: Vehicle Licensing….cont’d 

Proposals

• Government is phasing out the sale of new petrol and diesel cars and 

vans by 2030, and, from 2035, all new cars and vans must be zero 

emissions at he tailpipe (8.48) 

• Licensing teams should work with council colleagues with air quality and 

climate responsibilities to ensure taxi and private hire vehicle fleets play 

their part in work to tackle local emissions (8.50)

• Hackney’s and PHVs that operate predominantly in urban areas can be 

significant contributors to poor local air quality, if not properly maintained 

and regularly checked, due to their higher usage.  This might suggest that 

emissions testing should be checked more frequently than the annual 

MOT vehicle test/inspection (8.51) – SKDC policy requires a full 6 monthly 

vehicle inspection 

• Local authorities should assess the impact of vehicle emission 

requirements to enable the sector to plan for the future. Short-term 

objective to minimise harm through setting high EURO emissions 

standards e.g. EURO 6 but, long term trade must transition to                                                

zero emissions (8.52)

91



Section 11: Taxi rank provision

Consultation Question: 

26. Do you agree that taxi rank provision should be reviewed every

3 years ? 

Yes/No

92



Section 11: Taxi rank provision

Taxi ranks can provide a useful interchange between modes of 

transport and a focal point for taxis and passengers at peak periods. 

Proposals

• The provision of taxi ranks should be subject to regular review.  This will 

help local authorities establish whether a change is required to current 

provision and how to make necessary amendments to ranks for the 

benefit of the travelling public. (11.3)

• If feasible, a short-term waiting area for drivers of taxi picking up 

disabled passengers should be considered.  This could be an area of 

the footway with a kerb assigned as a setting-down/picking up point for 

people using taxis that have ramps designed for transfer directly to the 

footway (11.4) 

• Ranks within SKDC are on the public highway and under the 

control of LCC 

93



Annexes

Consultation Questions: 

Annex B: Model byelaws for Hackney carriages 

27. What, if any, comments do you have on the model byelaws ? 

No comments proposed as no material change

Annex F: Sample notices between taxi driver or PHV driver and passenger

28. What, if any, comments do you have on the sample notices 

No comments proposed

Annex G: Staying safe – guidance for taxi drivers 

29. What, if any, comments do you have on the staying safe guidance 

for taxi drivers ?  

No comments proposed

94



Annexes

Consultation Questions: 

Annex H: Staying safe – guidance for PHV trade

30. What, if any, comments do you have on the staying safe          

guidance for  the private hire vehicle trade ? 

No comments proposed

Annex I: Useful questions when assessing taxi quantity controls

31. What, if any, comments do you have on the questions for 

assessing taxi quantity controls 

No comments proposed

95



General Comments (to be added to the response)

4. Accessibility 

• 4.11 - Limited definition of assistance dogs; Potentially insufficient to comply 

with s168-170 (Assistance Dogs in Taxis) of the Equality Act 2010

7. Private Hire Vehicle Operator Licensing

• 7.2 - The fit and proper test for an Operator should reference the 

requirements of the DfT Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Standards.  The 

draft best practice guidance only refers to checks of Companies House 

information

8. Vehicle Licensing & Environmental Considerations

• 8.28 and 8.51 – to ensure a consistent approach to the transition towards 

zero emissions, there would be benefit in setting a national standard and 

phased timescale to support this

• Consideration of the provision of Government funding to support the trade in 

this transition

96



97

Appendix 3



98



99



100



 

 

 

Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 
10 May 2022 

Report of: Councillor Mark Whittington, Cabinet 
Member for Waste and Climate 
Change  

   

         
  

 

Draft Policy for the Provision of Litter Bins 

This report presents a draft policy which sets out the Council’s approach and the principles which 
will be followed in selecting and reviewing sites for the provision of litter bins across the district.  

 

 

Report Author 

Anne-Marie Coulthard, Assistant Director for Operations and Public Protection 

 
 01476 406319 

  a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

A Clean and Sustainable 
Environment  

Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Clova Townhill, Waste Team Manager  14 April 2022 

Approved by: Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive  19 April 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Mark Whittington, Cabinet Member for 
Waste and Climate Change  

21 April 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Considers the draft Policy for the Provision of Litter Bins and agrees it, with or 
without amendments.  

2. Recommends to Cabinet that the draft policy is suitable for adoption.  

101

Agenda Item 11

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 Councils are not obliged to provide litter bins, however, once installed, the frequency of 

emptying must be sufficient to ensure that litter does not overflow and become a nuisance.  

The procurement, siting, fixing, and ongoing emptying and maintenance of litter bins is a 

cost to the Council, therefore, ensuring litter bins are appropriately located supports value 

for money and enables resources to be focused where they are most needed.  

1.2 An audit of litter bins across the district has been undertaken to establish an up-to-date 

record of their condition and assess the effectiveness of the existing provision.   A total of 

608 litter bins have been recorded. 

1.3 Historically, the provision and siting of litter bins across the district has been in response to 

requests from the public or elected members without any structured review to ensure there 

is a genuine and continuing need.   

1.4 To support a consistent approach to future litter bin provision, a draft policy for the 

provision of litter bins has been developed (“the policy”) and is attached at Appendix 1.  

1.5 The policy seeks to clarify responsibilities where Parish or Town Councils have provided 

litter bins and details how requests for new litter bins will be dealt with.  It also suggests 

criteria which would generally be taken into consideration when determining site location 

and gives an indication of areas which would not normally be considered a priority. The 

prioritisation has been developed with regard to the “litter zones” as set out in the DEFRA 

Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse.    

1.6 While it is not proposed that any of the existing litter bins would automatically be removed 

as a result of the policy, where requests for additional or replacement bins are received, or 

damaged bins are noted, the policy will be applied.  Consideration would be given to 

moving existing under-utilised bins in the same area in the first instance.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 There is no statutory requirement to adopt a policy relating the provision of litter bins or  

consult on its contents.    

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee may consider that it is not necessary 

to adopt a policy and litter bins could continue to be provided as currently.  Alternatively, 

the Committee could consider that a policy is desirable and provide comments.   

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The adoption of a policy helps to support consistent and transparent decision making.  

Ensuring that litter bins are located in areas where it can be demonstrated that there is a 

genuine need. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 There is a balance between the number and locations of litter bins provided and the 

ongoing cost of emptying and maintaining them.  Ensuring litter bins are appropriately 

located supports value for money and enables resources to be focused where they are 

most needed. 

 

102



 

 
 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Subject to any comments from the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the 

draft policy will be presented to Cabinet for approval.   

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The budget for the provision of litter bins is approved annually by Council as part of the 

budget setting process.  There are no direct financial implications as a result of this report, 

however, a policy would support value for money principles in ensuring efficiency and 

effectiveness. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Assistant Director of 

Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The Council is not required to provide litter bins or publish a policy on their deployment. 

However, the adoption of a policy ensures a transparent and consistent approach is 

applied.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 An initial equality impact assessment has been undertaken and at Appendix 2.  No 

significant adverse impacts were identified.   

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 No significant risks have been identified.  

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 The presence of litter creates a negative impact on the local environment. The provision of 

litter bins in appropriate locations helps people to dispose of their litter responsibly.   

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 The standards defined in the draft policy support the efficiency of the Street Cleansing 

fleet , ensuring it can be optimised to reduce the number of vehicle journeys, further 

reducing the council’s carbon footprint. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 No other significant implications have been identified.  

14 Background Papers 

14.1 None. 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix 1 – Draft Policy on the Provision of Litter Bins  

15.2 Appendix 2 – Initial Equality Impact Assessment  

 

 

103



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

Policy on the Provision of Litter Bins 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Version Reason  Date 

V1 (Draft) Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

10 May 2022  

 

105

Appendix 1



 

1 
 

Contents 

1.0 Background……………………………………………… 2 

2.0 Site Selection……………………………………………. 3 

3.0 Public Events……………………………………………. 3 

4.0 Recycling Bins/Specific Waste Streams……………… 4 

5.0 Dog Waste……………………………………………….. 4 

6.0 Emptying, Maintaining and Replacing Litter Bins……. 4 

7.0 Requests for New Litter Bins………………………….. 5 

8.0 Definitions……………………………………………….. 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

106



 

2 
 

1.0 Background 

1.1 The Council has no legal duty to provide litter and dog waste bins but must keep 

Council owned land and public highways clear of litter and refuse as far as is 

practicable. Following changes to the classification of various waste materials, dog 

waste can be put into general litter bins and disposed of in the same way. 

1.2 Whilst the Council is committed to providing sufficient litter bins to help discharge its 

responsibilities under the Environmental Act 1990, dealing with litter places a 

significant financial and resource burden on local authorities and the Council’s 

capacity to provide litter bins is finite.  There are currently 608 litter bins of various 

types across the district.  

1.3 This document aims to manage litter bin provision and outlines the principles which 

will be followed in selecting and reviewing where litter bins are located, ensuring that 

the correct bin types are used in the most appropriate locations, and are located in 

areas where it can be demonstrated that there is a genuine need.   

1.4 The type, size and location of litter bins are all linked to how litter bins are used by 

the public, and in particular, how frequently they require emptying and how much 

litter is collected. These are the key determinants in supporting service delivery in 

terms of servicing frequency and the ability to route services effectively and 

efficiently. 

1.5 There is a balance between the number and locations of litter bins provided and the 

ongoing cost of emptying and maintaining them.  Ensuring litter bins are 

appropriately located supports value for money and enables resources to be focused 

where they are most needed.  

1.6 Future litter bin sites and reviews will consider, but are not restricted to the following; 

o Operational efficiency 
o Usage patterns 

o Health and safety considerations associated with the servicing of the litter bins 

o Links to other policies, e.g., planning and conservation areas  

1.7 The Council declared a Climate Emergency in September 2019.   The standards 

defined in this policy support the efficiency of the Street Cleansing fleet, ensuring it 

can be optimised to reduce the number of vehicle journeys, further reducing the 

Council’s carbon footprint. 

 

107



 

3 
 

2.0 Site Selection  

2.1 It is not possible to define specific sites which will and will not receive litter bins, 

however, the following factors will generally be taken into consideration: 

o Suitability of the proposed location - Taking account of the need to reduce street 
clutter, particularly in more sensitive locations such as Conservation Areas 

o Scale of the litter problem. Will a litter bin make a real impact on litter, or can this 
be addressed in other ways e.g., by enforcement? 

o Proximity to potential problem points - Is the proposed site close to shops, 
schools, bus stops etc 

o Number and location of existing litter bins in the area – In high footfall areas e.g., 
retail areas and travel hubs, a greater number of litter bins may be necessary.   

o Accessibility to disabled people - ensuring the bin is not a hazard or barrier for 
pedestrians including prams and wheelchairs. A minimum footpath width of 1.5m 
should be maintained 

o Cost of installation - use of a ground anchor system or any specific permissions 
that will impact on cost or practicality 

o Costs for emptying the bin e.g., more remote areas can have disproportionate 
transport costs 

o Litter bin type 
o Land ownership – litter bins will be sited on publicly owned or adopted land only 
o Location type (e.g., high priority areas as outlined in the document) 
o Potential for vandalism and arson 

 
2.2 The following areas will normally be viewed as higher priority to receive litter bins: 
 

o Main arterial routes and other high footfall and through route areas 
o Main areas of commerce and retail 
o Key routes in relation to schools 
o Near fast food and takeaway retailers 
o Public transport hubs (e.g., Bus stops and similar areas) where large numbers of 

people stand for periods of time, particularly in central areas 
o Entrances to parks and significant public spaces. 

2.3 The following areas will not normally be viewed as high priority for litter bin 

placements, or may in some cases be ruled out for litter bin placement: 

o Exclusively residential areas, except where these become high priority due to one 
of the reasons above 

o Locations where the litter bin is being abused, including inappropriate disposal of 
household or commercial waste which has not been resolved by engagement or 
enforcement and sites which are subject to arson or vandalism. 

3.0 Public Events 

3.1 The provision of temporary litter bins may be considered at specific locations to 

reflect increased pedestrian flows and litter generation at certain times on land 

owned by the Council. For example, during events in public parks etc.   

3.2 Litter bins will not be provided to collect commercial waste and it must be made clear 

that event organisers must put in place alternative provision.   The provision of bins 

for commercial events will be subject to a charge.  

 

108



 

4 
 

4.0 Recycling Bins/Specific Waste Streams   

4.1 The Council takes a pragmatic view of the effectiveness and efficiency of collecting 

different types of litter separately for recycling.  Along with the small quantities 

involved, there are particular challenges associated with collecting litter as a 

segregated stream for recycling while maintaining the relevant high standards of 

quality required.   

4.2 Due to high levels of contamination which lead to recyclable materials being 

disposed of as residual waste, the Council will not generally consider the installation 

of dual compartment recycling bins (one side recyclables the other for non-

recyclables)  

4.3 The potential future provision of dual compartment bins will be kept under review, 

particularly in response to any future requirements to segregate waste.  

5.0 Dog Waste 

5.1 The Council’s policy is to maximise efficiency by collecting bagged dog waste 

alongside general waste in the same litter bin. No dedicated dog waste bins will be 

provided. Householders may dispose of bagged dog waste in their residual waste 

bin.  

6.0 Emptying, Maintaining and Replacing Litter Bins 

6.1 Only litter bins purchased and installed by the Council or where a specific formal 

agreement has been made with the Parish or Town council will emptied.   Where a 

Parish or Town Council has installed a litter bin without prior agreement or outside of 

the site selection parameters detailed in this document, the responsibility for 

maintenance and emptying will remain wholly with the original purchaser. 

6.2 Any litter bins purchased and sited by Town or Parish Councils must be maintained 

by them, and any insurance remains the liability of the original purchaser.  Town and 

Parish Councils that purchase litter bins must indemnify the Council against any 

maintenance, loss or accident resulting from the installation. Upkeep and 

maintenance of litter bins includes ensuring suitable access to the bin.   

6.3 Town and Parish Councils are advised to carry out regular checks of litter bins they 

are responsible for and maintain them in good condition. In the event of an 

immediate or serious risk to a member of the public or the operative, the Council 

reserve the right to cover a litter bin to prevent further use and refuse to empty the 

bin.  

6.4 Litter bins will be emptied on such a frequency that will prevent them overflowing. 

This will be based on their location and related to the intensity of use. The frequency 

will also vary according to the time of year.  Monitoring will ensure that these 

frequencies are sufficient. 

6.5 All litter bins installed by the Council (or by a Parish or Town Council under 

agreement) will be maintained to a standard that is fit for purpose e.g., plastic litter 

bins can suffer damage in some locations while metal litter bins corrode. 

109



 

5 
 

6.6 When an existing litter bin is damaged or stolen, it will be replaced only if it meets the 

criteria for the provision of new litter bins. 

6.7 Litter bins that are not used, used infrequently or subject to repeated vandalism may 

be removed. 

6.8 Relevant Town and Parish Councils will be notified where litter bins are removed. 

7.0 Requests for New litter Bins 

7.1 On receipt of a request for a new or replacement litter bin, a site survey will be 

carried out in accordance with the site selection criteria.   

7.2 Possible alternatives will be considered in the first instance such as; 

o Moving an existing under-used litter bin to/from a different location 

o Changing the size/type of existing litter bins in the area. 

7.3 Litter bins will only be installed on sites which are safe and where there is a genuine 

need for a bin.  Litter bins will not be installed on private land or in a location which 

may encourage the disposal of commercial waste. The Environmental Protection Act 

1990 makes provision for the collection and disposal of commercial waste, and the 

Council expects businesses to make their own provision for the disposal of waste.   

7.4 Where a request or requirement for a new litter bin is considered appropriate, a litter 

bin will be installed. This litter bin will, as far as practicable, be a standard design and 

style. 

8.0 Definitions 

8.1 Litter is waste which is disposed of “on the go” either in a litter bin or discarded loose 

in the environment or as a result of an accidental escape from a premises, a 

domestic bin, etc. 

8.2 For the purposes of this document,  litter is generally distinct from household and 

commercial waste, however, there may be some overlap where waste materials have 

spilled from household or commercial waste collection. 

8.3 Fly tipping is a separate issue and will be dealt with according to current policy. 

 

110



 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Equality Impact 
(Initial Analysis) 

 
 

Policy for the Provision of Litter 
Bins  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Area: 
Waste and Street Scene 
 

Lead officer: 
Anne-Marie Coulthard 

Date of Meeting  
 
11/04/22 Assessors: 

Clova Townhill 

Neutral Assessor: Sam 
Fitt 

 

  

111

Appendix 2



 

 

 

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy 
 
 

This policy aims to manage litter bin provision and outlines the principles 
which will be followed in selecting and reviewing where litter bins are 
located, ensuring that the correct bin types are used in the most 
appropriate locations, and are located in areas where it can be 
demonstrated that there is a genuine need.   

 
 

Is this a new or existing policy?  New  
 
2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc. 

 

 
 
Equality Group 

Does this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups?  
 
Please state which for each 
group 

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative. 
If you consider this policy 
etc is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic 
please explain why   

Age 
 
 

Neutral The location of litter bins will 
be based on need (as detailed 
in the policy) to support the 
Council’s responsibilities under 
the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990.  The policy will be 
applied equitably across the 
geographical area, therefore 
Age is not a determinant of this 
policy.    

Disability 
 

 

Positive  The site selection criteria in the 
policy takes account of the 
accessibility needs of disabled 
people to ensure bins do not 
create a hazard or a barrier 
and are accessible.  

Race 
 

Neutral The location of litter bins will 
be based on need (as detailed 
in the policy) to support the 
Council’s responsibilities under 
the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990. The policy will be 
applied equitably across the 

112



 

 

 

geographical area, therefore 
Race is not a determinant of 
this policy.    

Gender 
Reassignment 
 
   

Neutral The location of litter bins will 
be based on need (as detailed 
in the policy) to support the 
Council’s responsibilities under 
the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990. The policy will be 
applied equitably across the 
geographical area,  therefore 
Gender Reassignment is not a 
determinant of this policy.    

Religion or 
Belief   

Neutral The location of litter bins will 
be based on need (as detailed 
in the policy) to support the 
Council’s responsibilities under 
the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990. The policy will be 
applied equitably across the 
geographical area, therefore 
religion or Belief is not a 
determinant of this policy.    

Sex 
 
 
   

Neutral The location of litter bins will 
be based on need (as detailed 
in the policy) to support the 
Council’s responsibilities under 
the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990. The policy will be 
applied equitably across the 
geographical area, therefore 
Sex is not a determinant of this 
policy.    

Sexual 
Orientation 
 

Neutral  The location of litter bins will 
be based on need (as detailed 
in the policy) to support the 
Council’s responsibilities under 
the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990. The policy will be 
applied equitably across the 
geographical area, therefore 
Sexual Orientation is not a 
determinant of this policy.    

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
 
 

Neutral The location of litter bins will 
be based on need (as detailed 
in the policy) to support the 
Council’s responsibilities under 
the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990. The policy will be 
applied equitably across the 

113



 

 

 

geographical area, therefore 
Pregnancy and Maternity is not 
a determinant of this policy.    

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

Neutral The location of litter bins will 
be based on need (as detailed 
in the policy) to support the 
Council’s responsibilities under 
the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990. The policy will be 
applied equitably across the 
geographical area, therefore 
Marriage and Civil Partnership 
is not a determinant of this 
policy 

Carers Positive The site selection criteria in the 
policy takes account of the 
accessibility needs of disabled 
people to ensure bins do not 
create a hazard or a barrier.  
Carers assisting disabled 
persons in public spaces 
would also benefit.  

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past) 
 
*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation) 
 

 The policy will be applied 
equitably across the 
geographical area. Sites which 
are higher priority for litter bins 
are detailed in the policy.  
These are generally based on 
areas of higher footfall where 
litter is more likely or where 
litter is an ongoing concern 
and litter bins would have a 
positive impact.  

General 
comments 

Littering occurs as a result of individual behaviour.  Dealing with 
litter places a significant financial and resource burden on local 
authorities and the Council’s capacity to provide litter bins is 
finite.   There is no legal requirement for the council to provide 
litter bins.  The policy details the criteria for site selection.  Litter 
bins are provided along with litter picking and enforcement 
where levels of litter are of concern.  

 
 

114



 

 

 

3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 
the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings) 

 

The department for Transport - Inclusive Mobility, A Guide to Best Practice 
on Access to Pedestrian and Transport Infrastructure has been taken into 
consideration to ensure street furniture is located where it does not present 
an obstacle and hazard, particularly to wheelchair users and vision 
impaired people. 
 
 

 
If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed? 

 
  

The policy would be applied equitably across the geographical area.  The 
policy does not adversely impact on individuals with specific 
characteristics.  

 
 
4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 

required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.    

 

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken 

 

   

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off 

   

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality.  

 

   

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2  

   

c) Adverse impact but continue  

   

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1 

   

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful 

 

 
b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts? 

 

115



 

 

 

  

 

 
 
b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.   

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis 

 
c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 

justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy. 

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact. 
 
 

 
 

Signed (Lead Officer):    Anne-Marie Coulthard 
(Name and title)   Assistant Director of Operations and Public 
Protection  
  

Date completed:  11/04/22  
 
Signed (Neutral Assessor):  Sam Fitt 
(Name and title)   Project Lead 
 

Date signed off:     11/04/22  
 

116



Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2021 - 2022 

Committee Membership: 7 

Chairman: Councillor Nikki Manterfield 

Vice-chairman: Councillor Gloria Johnson 

 

REPORT TITLE PURPOSE ORIGINATED 
CORPORATE 

PRIORITY 

 
10 May 2022 

Food Waste Collection Trial – 
Final Report 
 

To provide the Committee with the findings of SKDC’s Food 
Waste Collection Trial. 
Lead Officer: Anne-Marie Coulthard, Assistant Director of 
Operations and Public Protection 
 

Requested to be added to 
the agenda by the 
Assistant Director of 
Operations and Public 
Protection. 

A Clean and 
Sustainable 
Environment 

Update on Environment Act – 
impact on Local Authority 

To provide an update presentation on the Environment Act. 
Lead Officer: Anne-Marie Coulthard, Assistant Director of 
Operations and Public Protection 
 

Requested at the 
previous meeting.  

A Clean and 
Sustainable 
Environment 

Climate Change Update To update the Committee on climate change ambitions. 
Lead Officer: Serena Brown 
 

Report requested by 
Chairman for every 
meeting.  

A Clean and 
Sustainable 
Environment 

Government Consultation on 
the Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Licensing Best 
Practice Guidance for 
Licensing Authorities 

To contribute to response to the Government consultation. 
Lead officer: Heather Green, Licensing Team Leader  
 

Prompted by Government 
Consultation- closing date 
20 June 2022. 

A Clean and 
Sustainable 
Environment 

Draft Policy for the provision 
of litter bins 

To comment on the draft policy. 
Lead Officer: Anne-Marie Coulthard, Assistant Director of 
Operations and Public Protection 

New policy development. A Clean and 
Sustainable 
Environment 

 

 

 

117

A
genda Item

 12



 
 

 

 

Unscheduled items 

Report title Issue / Lead Officer Originated Corporate Priority 

Air Quality Report Committee to contribute to the Action Plan.  
 

Lead Officer: 
Anne-Marie Coulthard (Assistant Director, 
Operations and Public Protection) 

Requirement to review yearly.  A Clean and 
Sustainable 
Environment 

Blue/Green Corridor -
update 

Update on the Queen Elizabeth Park wetland 
project.  
 

Lead Officer: 
 

Ongoing project. A Clean and 
Sustainable 
Environment 

Work of TeamSK – 
Street Scene over the 
duration of the Pandemic 

Lead Officers: 
Anne-Marie Coulthard (Assistant Director, 
Operations and Public Protection) 

Information item, no time scale. A Clean and 
Sustainable 
Environment 

Biodiversity in council 
parks and looking at the 
use of contractors in 
relation to this 

Lead Officer: 
 
 
 

Added by the Committee at the 
meeting held on 8 June 2021 

A Clean and 
Sustainable 
Environment 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

118



 
 

The Committee’s Remit 
 
The remit of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be to work alongside Cabinet Members to assist with the development of 
policy and to scrutinise decisions in respect of, but not limited to: 

• Air Quality 

• Alcohol, entertainment and leisure licensing (Policy)  

• Allotments 

• Animal Welfare licensing (Policy) (guidance only, no policy: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8305) 

• Business Trade & Licensing (Policy) (guidance only, no policy: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8063) 

• Commercial, Industrial and Clinical Waste Collection and 
Management 

• Dog breeding & control orders 

• Domestic Waste & Recycling Management 

• Energy Efficiency 

• Estate and Grounds Maintenance 

• Flooding 

• Food Hygiene and Safety 

• Gambling & Lotteries licensing (Policy) 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=2553
7&p=0 (2020 policy due for review January 2022) 

• Health & Safety 

• Noise 

• Public Conveniences 

• Renewable Energy 

• Scrap Metal Dealers 

• Street Lighting 

• Street Services and Green Open Space Management 

• Tattoo, licensing and hygiene rating system (Policy) (guidance 
only, no policy: 
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8317) 

• Taxi & private vehicle, driver and operator licensing (Policy)  

• Wild animal licensing (Policy) (no local policy. 
https://www.gov.uk/licence-wild-animal) 

119

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=27433&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8305
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8063
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25537&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=25537&p=0
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8317
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=27785&p=0
https://www.gov.uk/licence-wild-animal


T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Action Notes from the meeting held on 30 November 2021
	Minutes

	5 Action Notes from the meeting held on 8 March 2022
	Minutes

	6 Updates from the previous meeting
	7 Food Waste Collection Trial - Final Report
	Appendix 1 - Food Waste Trial Consultation Report, October 2019

	8 Update on Environment Act - impact on Local Authority
	Appendix 1

	9 Climate Change Update
	10 Government Consultation on the Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Best Practice Guidance for Licensing Authorities
	Appendix 1 - Consultation Questions and Proposed Answers
	Appendix 2 - Taxi Consultation 2022 presentation
	Appendix 3 - Annex E - Vehicle Checklist

	11 Draft Policy for the provision of litter bins
	Appendix 1 - Draft Policy on the Provision of Litter Bins
	Appendix 2 - Initial Equality Impact Assessment

	12 Work Programme 2021-22

